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FOOD SECURITY IN AFRICA: THE IMPACT OF 
AGRICULTURAL DEVELOPMENT 

WEDNESDAY, JULY 18, 2007

HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES, 
SUBCOMMITTEE ON AFRICA AND GLOBAL HEALTH, 

COMMITTEE ON FOREIGN AFFAIRS, 
Washington, DC. 

The subcommittee met, pursuant to notice, at 11:10 a.m. in room 
2172, Rayburn House Office Building, Donald M. Payne, (chairman 
of the subcommittee) presiding. 

Mr. PAYNE. Good morning. I would like to apologize for the inter-
ruption. There are a number of mark-ups that are going on, Judici-
ary, the Farm Bill, the Education and Labor Bill, and so many of 
the members had to leave, but we are reconvening now. This hear-
ing today is the second in a series of hearings regarding food secu-
rity. Food security is one of the most serious situations that we 
have in the world, and it is something that we certainly need to 
deal with. 

More than a decade has passed since the World Food Summit in 
Rome at which nations pledged to work together to cut the number 
of undernourished people in half by the year 2015. Unfortunately, 
we are not on target to achieve that goal in sub-Saharan Africa. 
According to the Food and Agricultural Organization, in sub-Saha-
ran Africa the number of hungry people has increased from 169 
million to 206 million from the period of 1990 to 2006. Things are 
certainly going in the wrong direction. 

We need to know why so little progress has been made. Senator 
Russ Feingold and I have requested that the Government Account-
ability Office do a review of U.S. efforts on global food security. I 
hope the report will provide us with some much needed answers. 
At a hearing in May the subcommittee examined options to en-
hance the effectiveness of our international food aid programs. 

Witnesses emphasized two main points. First, food aid in and of 
itself is not sufficient to promote food security. Second, the United 
States Government must invest more research and resources in 
long-term agricultural development programs in order to achieve 
results. Witnesses pointed out that the majority of our food aid re-
sources are being diverted away from long-term development pro-
grams and used for emergency food assistance. 

Food aid is an important part of our aid program, and we have 
got to do more, and we have got to do it more effectively and more 
efficiently. However, it is not the only means that we have to ad-
dress hunger. Today’s hearing will specifically focus on the poten-
tial impact of another tool, agricultural development, on food secu-
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rity in Africa, which is home to nearly 25 percent of the developing 
world’s undernourished people. 

There are serious obstacles to agricultural development in Africa. 
At a hearing I convened in May the issue of lack of water for farm-
ing in the region was raised. Water scarcity remains a major prob-
lem in the Sahel in the Horn of Africa and will be more and more 
a concern in other areas of the continent. In June I held a hearing 
about climate change in the region. Countries in Africa will be hit 
hard by climate change as illustrated by a National Public Radio 
Program which aired on Monday. 

As a matter of fact, many say that Africa will be the worst hit 
as it relates to climate change, so the continent that needs the 
most will be devastated the most. According to the NPR story, 
Cape Verde had to build a desalination plant to maintain agricul-
tural production because seasonal rain has been insufficient, and 
it has been insufficient for many, many years. 

Few African countries can afford to engage in such costly endeav-
ors. Conflict and poverty pose additional challenges to agricultural 
development. However, the potential economic benefits are such 
that we must not let these challenges impede our efforts in this 
very important area. Resources from the agricultural sector have 
fueled industrialization and economic growth in virtually every de-
veloped country in the world. 

Africa should be no different. In fact, studies have shown that if 
crop yields are increased by 10 percent the percentage of people liv-
ing on less than $1 a day is reduced anywhere from 6 to 10 per-
cent. In Africa this means that as many as 12–15 million Africans 
could see their lives change dramatically by increased agricultural 
production. The Green Revolution in India increased the income of 
small farmers by 90 percent and that of landless laborers by 125 
percent. 

Imagine the impact that such a revolution might have in Africa 
where, according to the Organization for Economic Cooperation in 
Development, nearly 70 percent of the workforce in Africa is en-
gaged in some type of farming. In light of the potential impact of 
agricultural development on peoples’ lives, donors and inter-
national financial institutions must once again focus on agriculture 
as a means of wide scale development. 

I am under no illusion that pouring money solely into the farm-
ing sector in Africa is a silver bullet for the region’s development. 
There are other issues in play that should be examined. For exam-
ple, we must look at the trade distorting effort of agricultural sub-
sidies. The United States Government spent $17 billion in fiscal 
year 2006 for commodities subsidies. Subsidies have had a signifi-
cant impact on the ability farmers in Africa have to get a decent 
price for their crops. 

So all the programs in the world aimed at building up the agri-
cultural sector might not make much of a difference if the crops 
produced cannot be sold. I would also point out that if we spent 
even 5 percent of that total on agricultural development it would 
allow us to triple the approximately $350 million we spent on agri-
cultural and environmental programs in sub-Saharan Africa last 
year. 
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Let me be clear, I am certainly not suggesting that we completely 
stop assisting U.S. farmers when they need help. I am suggesting 
that we look at the issue in a considered way. We should also un-
dertake a review of the programs already in place to see if we are 
using what we have on hand as effectively as we could. As we take 
the Farm Bill up I hope that we can look into some of the sub-
sidies, which is going to be very difficult to do. Year in and year 
out many very, very wealthy people get much of the subsidies. 

In Europe in general, the EU countries are dealing with sub-
sidies. And it would be actually cheaper for Japan to buy rice from 
abroad rather than having the government pay to subsidize the 
rice industry. The fact that very needed land is used in an ineffec-
tive way when housing and other issues are so important to Japan 
is ironic. So it would almost be a win, win in that example and in 
many other places. 

In January of this year I joined the chairman of the full com-
mittee, Tom Lantos, in writing to Director of Foreign Assistance 
urging the administration not to cut funding for Collaborative Re-
search Support Programs. The CRSP Land Grant College lent ex-
pertise related to farm production, and security and nutrition to 
the U.S. Government and to developing countries. Not only must 
funding for such programs be maintained, it should be increased, 
our work, to boost the level of investment we are making in that 
area. 

I realize, however, that no matter how good the CRSP program 
is it alone is not enough to address the develop needs in the agri-
cultural sector, so I hope that during the course of our hearing 
today our witnesses will address the following issues. Number one, 
what are the major implements to agricultural development in sub-
Saharan Africa? Is a Green Revolution a good idea for Africa, and 
if so, is it achievable and is it realistic as a goal? 

Finally, what does the United States Government need to do in 
order to get the most bang for the buck so to speak in terms of 
making development investments in the agricultural sector in Afri-
ca? I thank our witnesses for coming today, and I turn to our rank-
ing member for an opening statement. 

[The prepared statement of Mr. Payne follows:]

PREPARED STATEMENT OF THE HONORABLE DONALD M. PAYNE, A REPRESENTATIVE 
IN CONGRESS FROM THE STATE OF NEW JERSEY, AND CHAIRMAN, SUBCOMMITTEE 
ON AFRICA AND GLOBAL HEALTH 

Our hearing today is the second in a series of hearings regarding food security 
in Africa. More than a decade has passed since the World Food Summit in Rome 
at which nations pledged to work together to cut the number of undernourished peo-
ple in half by the year 2015. 

Unfortunately, we are not on target to achieve that goal. According to the Food 
and Agricultural Organization, in sub-Saharan Africa the number of hungry people 
increased from 169 million to 206 million in the time period from 1990 to 2003. We 
need to know why so little progress has been made. Senator Russ Feingold and I 
have requested that the Government Accountability Office do a review of U.S. ef-
forts on global food security. I hope the report will provide some answers. 

At a hearing in May, the subcommittee examined options to enhance the effective-
ness of our international food aid programs. Witnesses emphasized two main points. 
First, food aid in and of itself is not sufficient to promote food security. Second, the 
United States government must invest more resources in long-term agricultural de-
velopment programs in order to achieve results. Witnesses pointed out that the ma-
jority of our food aid resources are being diverted away from long-term development 
programs and used for emergency food assistance. 
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However food aid is only one tool to promote food security. Today’s hearing will 
specifically focus on the potential impact of another tool—agricultural develop-
ment—on food security in Africa. Though only 13% of the world’s population resides 
in Africa, it is home to nearly 25% of the developing world’s undernourished people. 

There are serious obstacles to agricultural development in Africa. At a hearing in 
May the issue of lack of water for agricultural production in the region was raised. 
It remains a major problem in the Sahel and the Horn of Africa, and will be more 
and more of a concern in other areas of the continent. 

In June, I held a hearing about climate change on the continent. Countries in Af-
rica will be hit hard by climate change, as illustrated by a National Public Radio 
which aired on Monday. According to that story Cape Verde had to build a desalina-
tion plant to maintain agricultural production because seasonal rains have become 
insufficient. Few African countries can afford to engage in such costly endeavors. 

Conflict and poverty pose additional challenges to agricultural development; how-
ever the potential economic benefits are such that we must pursue such develop-
ment in a considered way at an appropriate level. Resources from the agricultural 
sector fueled industrialization and economic growth in virtually every developed 
country. Evidence suggests that long-term agricultural development programs are 
one tool that could improve food security in Africa. 

Studies have shown, that if crop yields are increased by 10%, the percentage of 
people living on less than a dollar a day is reduced anywhere from 6 to 10%. In 
Africa, this means that as many as 12 to 15 million Africans could see their lives 
change dramatically by increased agricultural production. The Green Revolution in 
India raised the income of small farmers by 90%, and that of landless laborers by 
125%. Imagine the impact that such a revolution might have in Africa, where ac-
cording to the Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development, nearly 70% 
of the workforce in Africa is employed in the agriculture sector. 

In light of the potential impact of agricultural development on people’s lives, do-
nors and the international financial institutions are once again beginning to focus 
on agricultural as a means of wide-scale development. The theme for the World 
Bank’s World Development Report for 2008 is Agriculture for Development. The re-
port will focus on when, where and how agriculture can be an effective instrument 
for economic development, especially development that favors the poor. 

We must also look at the trade distorting effect of agricultural subsidies. The 
United States government spent $17 billion in fiscal year 2006 for commodity sub-
sidies. I am not suggesting that we completely stop assisting U.S. farmers when 
they need help. I am suggesting that subsidies have a significant impact on the abil-
ity farmers in Africa to get a decent price for their crops. 

I would also point out that if we spent even five percent of that amount on agri-
cultural development, it would allow us to almost double the approximately $350 
million we spent on agricultural and environmental programs in sub-Saharan Africa 
last year. In January of this year, I joined the Chairman of the full Committee, Tom 
Lantos, in writing to the Director of Foreign Assistance urging that the administra-
tion not cut funding for Collaborative Research Support Programs. 

Through CRSPs, U.S. land grant colleges lend expertise related to food production 
and security, and nutrition to the U.S. government and developing nations. Not only 
must funding for such programs be maintained, it should be increased. I will work 
to boost the level of investment we are making in that area. 

But these programs alone are not enough to address the develop needs in the ag-
ricultural sector. I hope that our witnesses today will address the following issues: 
What are the major impediments to agricultural development in sub-Saharan Afri-
ca? Is a ‘‘green revolution’’ a good idea for Africa, and if so, is it achievable a real-
istic goal? And finally, what does the United States government need to do in order 
to get the most bang for the buck in terms of making development investments in 
the agriculture sector in Africa? 

I thank our witnesses for coming today, and turn to the distinguished ranking 
member for his opening statement.

Mr. SMITH OF NEW JERSEY. Thank you very much, Mr. Chair-
man, for calling this important hearing on the impact of Agricul-
tural Development and Food Security in Africa. Living in a country 
of plenty, as we do, where local grocery stores have aisles of fresh 
produce, cereal and whole aisles of pet food, one can easily forget 
that other parts of the world are not similarly blessed and what 
undernourishment that results from insecurity means in practical 
terms. 
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UNICEF estimates that malnutrition is a leading cause of mor-
tality of children under the age of 5 and contributes to the death 
of about 5 million children each and every year. One to 2 percent 
of all children under five in the developing world or almost 13 mil-
lion suffer from severe acute under nutrition. These children are 
far more susceptible to dying from childhood illnesses including di-
arrhea and pneumonia. 

Of course, under nutrition does not affect only children. Twenty-
five percent of all undernourished persons in the world or about 
218 million live in sub-Saharan Africa. This constitutes about 30 
percent of that region’s population. Agricultural production is es-
sential for addressing this crisis on both the local and national lev-
els. 

Africa faces numerous challenges in meeting the basic need of 
food and nutrition for its people. These include the simple lack of 
food in markets or fields, poor food delivery mechanisms, the in-
ability of many people to buy food or agricultural resources due to 
poverty, obstacles to food access due to social status, lack of sanita-
tion and clean drinking water and natural and manmade resources. 
I can attest to at least one aspect of these challenges from my own 
experiences in Africa. 

I have traveled along a segment of the Pan-African Highway 
which is one of Africa’s primary transportation routes. The part 
that I rode on is a narrow, two lane paved road with numerous 
bicyclists, pedestrians and animals walking along the shoulder. I 
was told that another segment was a dirt road that was taking far 
longer than anticipated to be repaved. 

One often encounters open air trucks overloaded with bananas or 
other produce broken down in the middle of the road exposed to the 
sun and heat. I am told that they remain there for hours or even 
days at a time. No one can travel this major road after dark as the 
road is not lit and the danger of hitting one of these disabled vehi-
cles or some other object on the road is too great. 

Even if a community is growing bumper crops of high-quality ag-
ricultural produce, it would be next to impossible to transport food 
in a timely manner under these conditions. As we are noting time 
and again during these subcommittee hearings, Mr. Chairman, in-
adequate infrastructure is a major obstacle to development in gen-
eral in Africa and that applies in the case of agricultural develop-
ment. 

African leaders recognized this when they named increased Ag 
trade capacity and infrastructure as one of the four pillars of the 
Comprehensive African Ag Development Program of the African 
Union’s New Partnership for Africa’s Development. Just 3 weeks 
ago the subcommittee heard how the Millennium Challenge Cor-
poration is working to address this need. I will be interested to 
hear from our witnesses about additional measures we are or 
should take to create the infrastructure necessary to support agri-
cultural business and rural farming populations. 

It is unfortunate that some attribute Africa’s food crisis, at least 
in part, to the continent’s population growth rate and name the 
people, especially children themselves, as a cause of the problem of 
food insecurity. You will recall, Mr. Chairman, that in our recent 
hearing on the shortage of safe water in Africa, we learned that the 
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United Nations Development Program had found that the global 
water crisis is attributable to power, poverty and unequal access to 
safe drinking water not shortages in quantity resulting from popu-
lation increases. 

I would propose that the same analysis applies with respect to 
the availability of food and levels of food security. Many research-
ers on this issue attribute food insecurity not so much to an abso-
lute deficit of food, particularly at the national and international 
levels, as to the failure of socioeconomic systems, including markets 
and political processes, to distribute food equitably and efficiently. 

Many are of the opinion that better functioning and open market 
systems are equally or more important to providing adequate food 
supplies as absolute increases in food production. While we should 
and must seek to increase the quality and quantity of food supplies 
we must also address longer term challenges of policy and infra-
structure to attain a permanent solution for food security. 

People themselves should be considered not a source of the prob-
lem but a valuable resource in achieving this goal. I yield back the 
balance. 

Mr. PAYNE. Thank you very much, Mr. Smith. Ms. Watson. 
Ms. WATSON. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I will be very brief in 

my comments, but I think this is a very timely hearing and right 
now the Agriculture Committee is working on reauthorizing farm 
subsidy programs. We need to acknowledge the impact of what we 
do here in Congress on farmers around the world. Any country that 
has lifted its people out of poverty in the last Century has started 
by feeding itself. If a country cannot make its agricultural sector 
work it is going to be hard press to make its economy work. 

Too often agricultural markets in developing countries are dis-
torted by the farm subsidies we have in the industrialized world. 
Mr. Chairman, both you and Mr. Smith have been vocal on this 
issue in the past and I look forward to working with both of you 
and all the members of this committee when the Farm Bill comes 
to the House floor to see what we can do to blunt the worst impacts 
of our domestic foreign policies on Africa countries and farmers. 

We hope that in some way that there will be much good that will 
come out of those bills so countries that we are concerned about in 
rural Africa can benefit. Thank you so much, Mr. Chairman. 

Mr. PAYNE. Thank you very much. Dr. Boozman. 
Mr. BOOZMAN. I will pass. 
Mr. PAYNE. Okay. Ms. Woolsey. 
Ms. WOOLSEY. No, Mr. Chairman. 
Mr. PAYNE. Thank you. We will move to our first witness. Our 

administration witness today is Mr. Michael Hess, the Assistant 
Administrator of the Bureau for Democracy, Conflict and Humani-
tarian Assistance at the U.S. Agency for International Develop-
ment. Mr. Hess joined USAID in 2005. Prior to that, Mr. Hess 
served in the U.S. Army for 30 years attaining the rank of Colonel. 
He was deployed to carry out humanitarian operations in Turkey, 
Iraq, Bosnia and Kosovo. 

He was recalled to active duty to serve as the Humanitarian Co-
ordinator in the Office of Reconstruction and Humanitarian Assist-
ance during Operation Iraqi Freedom and later served as the Dep-
uty Chief of Staff for the Coalition Provisional Authority. We thank 
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you for your great service to our country, and we welcome your role 
here in USAID, your active role as an active U.S. military humani-
tarian, and we look forward to hearing your testimony. 

STATEMENT OF THE HONORABLE MICHAEL E. HESS, ASSIST-
ANT ADMINISTRATOR, BUREAU FOR DEMOCRACY, CON-
FLICT AND HUMANITARIAN ASSISTANCE, UNITED STATES 
AGENCY FOR INTERNATIONAL DEVELOPMENT 

Mr. HESS. Thank you, Chairman Payne, Ranking Member Smith 
and members of the Subcommittee on Africa and Global Health for 
the opportunity to be here today to appear before you and to dis-
cuss the major role and impact of agricultural development on food 
security in Africa. I would like to submit, Mr. Chairman, my writ-
ten testimony for the record and keep my oral remarks short. 

Mr. PAYNE. Without objection. 
Mr. HESS. I will focus on three topics today, the need for holistic 

integrated approaches to food security and agricultural develop-
ment in Africa, the so-called Relief to Development continuum, the 
importance of CAADP, the new African-led Comprehensive African 
Agricultural Development Program, and the important role and re-
sults of the United States support to the President’s Initiative to 
End Hunger in Africa, IEHA. 

Poverty and food insecurity in Africa are among the most signifi-
cant development challenges in our time. The frequency and mag-
nitude as well as the unpredictability of major food security crises 
are increasing due to growing chronic vulnerability. Current esti-
mates suggest that over 40 percent of sub-Saharan Africa’s popu-
lation survive on less than $1 a day and cannot meet the minimum 
daily food requirements. 

The problem is especially acute in rural areas where the poor are 
concentrated. These food insecure populations to a great extent are 
dependent on agriculture to change their lives and reduce poverty. 
Agricultural development is vital in this regard. Food security and 
poverty reduction in Africa cannot be achieved without develop-
ment of agriculture that enables the majority of Africans now de-
pendent on agriculture for their livelihoods to secure the income, 
nutrition and economic stability to be productive and responsible 
members of their communities. 

With growing numbers of chronically food insecure in some re-
gions such as eastern Africa and with agricultural development al-
ready significantly contributing to poverty reduction in others a 
broader, holistic approach is needed that is appropriate for each 
country and integrates relief and development programs to attack 
underlying causes of food insecurity while achieving economic 
growth through agriculture. 

Most African leaders now recognize the need to achieve agricul-
tural growth and the powerful influence it has on food security and 
poverty reduction. Their vision for agricultural growth is reflected 
in the Comprehensive African Agricultural Development Program, 
CAADP, of the Africa Union’s New Partnership for Africa’s Devel-
opment, NEPAD. NEPAD also emphasizes the importance of gov-
ernance in creating an enabling environment for agricultural 
growth, and African governments are increasingly focused on im-
proved governance through NEPAD. 
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CAADP is an African vision and framework designed and led by 
Africans to ensure that agriculture plays its critical role in sup-
porting transformational development, improving food security, re-
ducing poverty and increasing the effectiveness of development as-
sistance. CAADP is the most ambitious and comprehensive agricul-
tural reform effort ever undertaken in Africa. It addresses impor-
tance of governance, policy, market and productivity issues across 
the entire agricultural sector and across the entire African con-
tinent. 

By establishing CAADP and pledging their commitment to it Af-
rican governments are addressing a long-standing barrier to agri-
cultural development in Africa, the lack of African political and fi-
nancial leadership for agricultural development in Africa. CAADP 
promotes African accountability and financial and political commit-
ment. It integrates the needs to address food insecurity and eco-
nomic vulnerability into the mainstream development agenda and 
provides a framework for Africans to unite to assist famine prone 
countries tackle the root cases of hunger. 

USAID has been a leader in supporting the African agricultural 
development in general and CAADP in particular. Since 1998 
USAID has provided an estimated $1.3 billion of development ac-
count funds to support African agricultural development in 25 
countries. In addition, USAID has provided over $680 million in 
P.L. Title II development food aid resources since 1998 for small 
holder agricultural programs within the most vulnerable popu-
lations and the most food insecure countries. 

The President’s Initiative to End Hunger in Africa started in 
2003 is playing a leading role in strengthening key African organi-
zations at the continental, regional and country levels to lead and 
manage implementation of CAADP processes. In 2006 IEHA inter-
ventions directly assisted nearly 10 million people, helped 520,000 
farmers on 850,000 hectares adopt new technology to increase pro-
ductivity. 

It also helped spur $812 million in international trade and $435 
million of integrated intraregional trade and in countries as diverse 
as Mozambique and Ghana cut by over half the period of food 
shortages by the chronically food insecure each year. Another spe-
cific example is in Zambia. Our USAID project is helping rural cat-
tle and maize farmers use SMS services via cell phones to get crit-
ical information on agricultural inputs such as sprays and seeds 
and to aggregate their purchasing of inputs to obtain price dis-
counts. 

Another example of how markets help and market reforms, farm-
ers and agricultural traders across West Africa in 15 ECOWAS 
countries use cell phone based regional market information net-
works to find prices by market and by agricultural product. Trad-
ers use SMS text messaging via their cell phones to track prices 
for rice, maize, cattle, tomatoes, onions, millet and other commod-
ities. 

Through these improved market chronic activities for farmers 
they could increase their income for the products they produce. 
USAID funded rehabilitation of the border post between Kenya and 
Ghana which shortened the time to clear trucks from 6 days to 6 
hours. That produce that you were talking about, Congressman 
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Smith, that rots on those trucks can now move through those bor-
der crossings much faster. 

According to a recent study on east Africa it costs more to trans-
port a ton of grain from Mombasa to Kampala than it does from 
Chicago, Illinois, to Mombasa. USAID supported a new Private 
Sector Focus Commodities Exchange Program in Ethiopia that is 
slated to open and increase the markets in Ethiopia. In conclusion, 
agricultural development can and does play a strategically impor-
tant role in promoting food security and poverty reduction in Afri-
ca. 

USAID and the administration play a leading role in globally 
and locally working with African leaders and the development com-
munity to build the necessary coalitions and alliances. Fundamen-
tally, the challenge of food security and agricultural development 
in Africa must first and foremost be addressed by African leaders. 
Their vision and aspirations reflected in CAADP are an important 
stride forward. 

It is important that we and others provide credible support for 
these African-led efforts including the strengthening of regional 
food markets, trade systems that will play such a large role in se-
curing African economic growth and food security. 

Our role is to assist in strengthening the agricultural enabling 
environment and tackling the fundamental development challenges 
related to increased productivity and investment while making 
sure that citizens understand that they and their governments 
must take responsibility for their future as it is the key to develop-
ment. Thank you, Mr. Chairman, for the opportunity to appear be-
fore this committee on such an important subject. I welcome your 
questions. 

[The prepared statement of Mr. Hess follows:]

PREPARED STATEMENT OF THE HONORABLE MICHAEL E. HESS, ASSISTANT ADMINIS-
TRATOR, BUREAU FOR DEMOCRACY, CONFLICT AND HUMANITARIAN ASSISTANCE, 
UNITED STATES AGENCY FOR INTERNATIONAL DEVELOPMENT 

Chairman Payne, Ranking Member, and other members of the House Committee 
on Foreign Affairs Subcommittee on Africa and Global Health, thank you for the op-
portunity to appear before you today to discuss the strategic role and impacts of ag-
ricultural development on food security in Africa. 

THE IMPACT OF AGRICULTURAL DEVELOPMENT ON FOOD SECURITY IN AFRICA 

Food security in Africa cannot be achieved without the development of agriculture 
that enables the majority of Africans, now dependent on agriculture for their liveli-
hoods, to secure the wealth, nutrition and stability to be productive and responsible 
members of their community. 

Poverty and food insecurity in Africa are among the most significant development 
challenges of our time. From 1990 to 2005, the overall share of the population that 
is not meeting minimum daily food requirements decreased from about 52% to 
around 45%. These rates of progress are not sufficient to meet Millennium Develop-
ment Goals (MDGs). Current estimates suggest that over 40% of sub-Saharan Afri-
ca’s (SSA) population survive on less than a dollar a day and can not meet the min-
imum daily food requirements. The problem is especially acute in rural areas, where 
the poor are concentrated. These food insecure populations, to a great extent, are 
dependent on agriculture to change their lives and circumstances. 

Fundamentally, the impact of agricultural development on the poverty and food 
security of individuals and on the transformation of African national economies 
comes from agriculture’s ability to:

a. Put money in the pockets of millions of individuals and create jobs in rural 
and urban areas;
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b. Directly improve the health and well being of society, especially children in 
formative stages, by ensuring the availability of high quality food and safe 
food systems;

c. Promote good economic governance among large segments of society; and
d. Improve the care and stewardship of natural resources that directly affects 

conflict, especially among the poor.
The power of agriculture to influence food security and poverty reduction in Africa 

is clearly reflected in the experiences of Ghana and Uganda. From 1992 to 2005 pov-
erty in Ghana dropped from 50% to 30% of the population, and hunger dropped from 
39% to under 20% of the population, a reduction of 5.3% annually since 1992. Driv-
ing this change is sustained improvements in the performance of agriculture, re-
flected by growth in agriculture total factor productivity (TFP) which grew by 2.5 
% per annum between 1990 and 2003. 

In Uganda, the share of population living in poverty decreased from 56% in 1992 
to 31% in 2005. At the same time agriculture productivity grew at 3 % per annum. 
Further, rural incomes grew five times faster than urban incomes from 2000 to 2005 
providing some early signals that the rural economy is taking off. This take off is 
laying the foundation for overall growth and economic transformation—which is 
critical to tackle the root causes of food insecurity and poverty. 

At a continent level, agriculture has historically performed poorly. Recent trends 
show improvement, although the results are mixed and are not yet sufficient to 
meet either the MDG targets or the targets of African leaders to reduce poverty and 
hunger, and improve food security. Africa-wide, per capita agricultural production 
has declined, with the fastest rates of decline in Eastern and Southern Africa. West 
Africa per capita production trends indicate that it is the only region in Africa that 
has improved. Further, Africa’s share of global agricultural exports has experienced 
a constant decline since the 1960s, and currently account for 2.1% of global agricul-
tural exports. 

But, there are signs that the region’s agricultural performance is on the verge of 
a takeoff. Since 1997, Sub-Saharan Africa’s share of the world’s traditional agricul-
tural exports has grown slightly from approximately 7% to 11%. Beginning in 2000, 
agricultural growth rates have improved in many countries, and, as recently as 
2005, Sub-Saharan Africa’s agricultural GDP grew by 6%. In general, household in-
comes are on the rise. 

BARRIERS TO AGRICULTURAL DEVELOPMENT IN AFRICA 

African leaders recognize the need to get agriculture moving and the powerful in-
fluence it does and must have on food security. Their vision for agriculture is re-
flected in the Comprehensive African Agricultural Development Program (CAADP) 
of the African Union’s New Partnership for Africa’s Development (AU/NEPAD). 

CAADP is an African vision and framework designed and led by Africans to en-
sure that agriculture plays its critical role in supporting transformational develop-
ment, improving food security and increasing the effectiveness of development as-
sistance. CAADP is the most ambitious and comprehensive agricultural reform ef-
fort ever undertaken in Africa. It addresses policy and capacity issues across the en-
tire agricultural sector and across the entire African continent. 

By establishing CAADP and reinforcing their commitment to it, African govern-
ments are addressing a long standing barrier to agricultural development in Afri-
ca—lack of African political and financial leadership for agricultural development in 
Africa. 

CAADP offers multiple opportunities for progress on the Monterrey and Paris 
Declarations. It promotes African mutual accountability and financial and political 
commitment. African governments committed to provide 10% of their national an-
nual budgets to support agriculture by 2008. It provides a framework that facilitates 
prioritization of where and what to invest in to achieve the targeted 6% agricultural 
growth rate under CAADP. It integrates the need to address chronic food insecurity 
and economic vulnerability into the mainstream development agenda and provides 
a framework for Africans to unite to assist famine-prone countries tackle the root 
causes of hunger. It also reflects a commitment of African leaders to put in place 
a policy framework to support agricultural development. 

The G–8 has committed to support CAADP during the Gleneagles, St. Petersburg, 
and most recently at the Hieligendamm meeting, where the communiqué on Growth 
and Responsibility in Africa noted that ‘‘To improve food security and sustainable 
use of natural resources, the G8 will support AU/NEPAD’s Comprehensive Africa 
Agricultural Development Programme (CAADP) and promote policy reforms and in-
vestments in sustainable agriculture leading to higher productivity, better market ac-
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cess and reduced vulnerabilities in order to support the population in rural areas’’. 
Under the leadership of the United States Agency for International Development 
(USAID), the Initiative to End Hunger in Africa (IEHA) framework is the vehicle 
through which the U.S. government meets its G–8 commitments to support imple-
mentation of CAADP. 

CAADP has four pillars. Of particular strategic importance is pillar three which 
focuses on food security, hunger and emergency assistance to address the needs of 
the most vulnerable. CAADP integrates this concern for the vulnerable and food se-
curity into the core of the agricultural development agenda. The other three pillars 
promote: sustainable management of land and water resources (pillar one); increas-
ing agricultural trade capacities and infrastructure for agriculture (pillar two); and 
increasing the use of productivity enhancing technology (pillar four). 

The major challenge that the implementation of CAADP faces is increasing the 
scale and scope of policy reform, capacity building and investment to levels suffi-
cient to achieve the accelerated agricultural growth targets. In 2000, barely 3% of 
national budgets were allocated to agriculture, and no country in Africa was pro-
viding 10% of their budget to support agriculture. In 2003, the average share of na-
tional budgets going to agriculture increased to just over 5%. 

Key barriers and challenges to increasing the performance and contribution of ag-
riculture in Africa to the reduction of poverty, hunger and food insecurity that 
CAADP and IEHA need to address include the following:

• Increasing agricultural productivity and growth in the use of agricultural in-
puts.

• Strengthening policy and institutions to support agriculture.
• Expanding regional economic cooperation to grow market opportunities and 

access.
• Strengthening the capacity of private sector based agricultural market and 

trade systems—to link producers and manufacturers to markets and finance.
• Expanding private sector foreign and domestic investment.
• Building the infrastructure to serve agriculture businesses and populations.
• Strengthening the capacity to deal with vulnerabilities to political instability 

as well as environmental and economic shocks.
Recognizing that countries face different barriers and challenges to develop their 

agriculture, action plans and investments need to be adapted to local needs. The AU 
and NEPAD have established a process, coordinated by lead regional economic com-
munities in Africa, to provide evidence-based planning to guide the adaptation and 
adjustment of the CAADP framework to meet the country specific needs in pursuit 
of the common objectives of CAADP. This commitment to regional economic integra-
tion and coordination, along with evidence-based planning is a major step forward 
by African leaders in creating the conditions to improve competitiveness and facili-
tating broad based economic growth. 

Securing the engagement, alignment and commitment of the international devel-
opment community in assisting Africans to put in place the capacity and invest-
ments to enable an efficient, coherent African-led agenda for agricultural develop-
ment also remains a challenge and barrier to success. Progress is being made, but 
much remains to be done to fully secure the alignment of International Finance In-
stitutions and foundations along with traditional bilateral donors. 

AGENCY FOR INTERNATIONAL DEVELOPMENT AGRICULTURAL DEVELOPMENT ACTIVITIES 
IN AFRICA 

Since 1998, USAID has provided an estimated $1.35 billion in DA, not including 
Food for Peace development food aid, to support African agricultural development. 
Over the past ten years USAID has provided development assistance for African ag-
riculture in 15 to 25 countries each year. In 2007, development assistance to support 
agriculture is being provided to 20 countries in Africa. USAID also provides support 
for regional (multi-country) agricultural development programs in East, West and 
Southern Africa to increase competitiveness and expand economic opportunities in-
cluding reducing regional trade barriers for inputs and food grains. The Agency also 
supports global networks and advanced research systems that focus on agriculture 
in Africa, such as the Consultative Group for International Agricultural Research 
and the U.S. universities involved through Title XII Programs such as the Collabo-
rative Research Support Program, directly supported from the Washington head-
quarters. And, through the Food for Peace development programs, managed from 
Washington, we provide support for African agricultural development in an esti-
mated 16 countries. 
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The new U.S. Framework for Foreign Assistance recognizes the strategic impor-
tance of agriculture in economic development, especially among developing coun-
tries. It provides a framework to focus our efforts on agricultural enabling environ-
ment and agricultural productivity challenges that can demonstrably contribute to 
facilitating transformation through broad based, sustained, economic growth and 
the reduction of poverty. 

Our agricultural programs are focused on increasing rural incomes as a primary 
driver for reducing poverty, stimulating broad based economic growth and increas-
ing the food self-reliance of rural households. To achieve this, USAID works with 
national governments, private sector groups, nongovernmental organizations, re-
gional organizations, and other development partners to provide and focus agri-
culture development assistance. Our actions are aimed at: increasing African agri-
cultural productivity, improving the policy environment for smallholder-based agri-
culture, expanding agricultural trade and integrating the vulnerable—especially the 
food insecure—into the development process. Our efforts are adapted to the needs 
of individual countries and local populations. 

In 2003, IEHA, an agricultural focused agenda, began implementation. IEHA pro-
vides a framework to collaborate with and strengthen key African organizations at 
the continental, regional, and country levels to lead and manage implementation of 
the CAADP process. In 2006, IEHA interventions directly assisted nearly 10 million 
people; helped 520,000 farmers on 850,000 hectares (1.87 million acres) adopt new 
technology to increase productivity; helped spur $812 million of international trade 
and $435 million of intra-regional trade; and in countries as diverse as Mozambique 
and Ghana reduced periods of food shortage for the chronically food insecure from 
4 months to 1.3–1.8 months per year. 

A significant part of our efforts, strategically, is our support for regional economic 
integration that helps create the dynamics and opportunities to achieve Africa’s 
growth targets. The small size, economic isolation, and rudimentary infrastructure 
of many African economies present development challenges not easily surmounted 
at the national level. With a regional approach, countries can capture economies of 
scale and scope unavailable to them individually due to their limited access to mar-
kets, finance, human capital, and knowledge. They can address cross-border prob-
lems caused by epidemics, pollution, and conflict. By working regionally, countries 
are also held accountable to a larger group of stakeholders for their policy commit-
ments. 

USAID-supported policy reforms are improving enabling environments for 
smallholders and agriculture-based enterprises by removing key constraints and cre-
ating real opportunities. Policy improvements such as new commodity grades and 
standards are making trade more efficient and reliable. Reductions in tariffs and 
taxes on agricultural inputs are making investment more attractive to producers 
and others in the value chain, allowing them to take advantage of these opportuni-
ties, increase their incomes, and move out of poverty. USAID also supports the en-
hancement of policies with respect to key public investments like agricultural re-
search, directing scarce resources to those areas where the results will be of most 
use to poor farmers. Policy efforts fall under three main categories: agricultural 
markets and standards, food policies, and public investment policies. 

USAID agricultural trade-related programs focus on growing sales by 
smallholders and increasing exports of targeted commodities, especially into regional 
markets. Opportunities for increased domestic and international trade are being cre-
ated through trade-policy improvements as well as through technical assistance that 
links producer and trader groups to business development services, credit, and ulti-
mately to markets, and also helps them meet international quality standards. In-
creased producer revenues from these profitable new opportunities are raising in-
comes and reducing poverty. 

USAID agricultural productivity support programs are reducing poverty and hun-
ger by enhancing productivity and income at all parts of the agricultural value 
chain. The programs do so by providing skills and information directly to farmers, 
processors, and traders, as well as to producer and exporter associations. They also 
strengthen public and private research and extension systems to deliver new tech-
nology. Through our efforts technology is being developed, disseminated and shared 
among countries and farmers throughout Africa. 

USAID is also the lead development agency in support of biotechnology systems 
development in Africa, providing support to countries to establish bio-safety policy 
and regulatory systems that enable them to utilize these innovations, strengthening 
capacity of African scientists and developing new biotechnology applications for Afri-
can agriculture and priority commodities. 

Agriculture is our front line against new diseases, like avian influenza and cas-
sava mosaic virus that threaten livelihoods and trade, as well as human health. We 
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are working to strengthen the surveillance systems and knowledge systems to im-
prove the response to these challenges. USAID-funded international research devel-
oped cassava varieties resistant to a virus destroying production across central Afri-
ca. Through monitoring of the outbreak and partnering with private voluntary orga-
nizations (PVOs) to disseminate improved varieties—we have been able to prevent 
crop failures and restore production systems that had collapsed. 

USAID agricultural programs assisting vulnerable households help to build the 
capacity of the vulnerable, increase their food self-reliance, and connect them to key 
development services and processes. The vulnerable are hungry individuals, house-
holds, and groups that are unable to meet their basic food needs and are likely to 
experience continuing or increased difficulty in meeting these needs. They live 
where highly inadequate or highly variable food availability and food access condi-
tions exist, exacerbated by natural and/or man-made disasters such as conflict. 
These chronically food-insecure conditions require solutions that will improve and 
protect the production and market structures and systems that will improve their 
ability to acquire more income and food for feeding themselves. Our policy reform, 
market development and productivity enhancing efforts are having significant influ-
ence on the vulnerable. 

Under the new USAID Food for Peace Strategic Plan for 2006–2010, the Agency 
has expanded its food security conceptual framework to make explicit the risks (eco-
nomic, social, health and political risks as well as natural shocks) that impede 
progress toward improvements in food availability, access and utilization. New P.L. 
480 Title II development programs are being aligned to support CAADP goals, espe-
cially at the country level with FFP development programs aligned with CAADP 
country compacts focused on underlying causes of food insecurity. 

FOCUS COUNTRIES FOR AGRICULTURAL DEVELOPMENT ASSISTANCE IN AFRICA 

The role of agriculture in a national development strategy is highly related to a 
country’s stage of development. The United States Foreign Assistance Framework 
recognizes that countries are in different stages of the development process and face 
different challenges. 

At present only eight percent of Africa’s population lives in middle income coun-
tries, where average GDP is almost ten times higher than the average for low in-
come African countries. Agriculture is less important in middle-income countries 
and on average generates less than ten percent of GDP. Higher average per capita 
incomes typically correspond to lower poverty rates and greater food security. 

In general, agriculture plays a major role in low income countries. In Africa, 90% 
of the population lives in low income developing countries and many Africans in 
these low income countries are dependent on subsistence agriculture for their liveli-
hoods. 

IEHA, our flagship effort in agriculture, is concentrated on two key low income 
countries in each of three regions: Uganda and Kenya in East Africa; Mozambique 
and Zambia in Southern Africa; and Mali and Ghana in West and Central Africa. 
These countries are leaders in policy reform, public investment, and government 
commitment to agricultural growth and poverty reduction. They are representative 
of the key economic and agricultural characteristics of their regions and also have 
the greatest potential for influencing regional agricultural productivity and eco-
nomic growth through trade and technology diffusion. In 2007 two hunger hot spot 
countries—Malawi and Niger—are being added to IEHA. 

Looking forward, there are very few countries in Africa that would not qualify as 
a focus country simply based on need. High levels of poverty and hunger are perva-
sive. Our agricultural resources are focused on strategic countries committed to 
using development resources effectively to stimulate agricultural growth, break the 
cycle of chronic food insecurity and establish the policy, capacity and processes for 
this to succeed. We are focusing on those developing countries that are taking steps 
to implement CAADP and participate in the peer review efforts that go with the 
NEPAD and CAADP processes. In 2007, 10 countries have launched roundtable 
processes to shape an integrated strategy to implement CAADP and achieve African 
aspirations of sustained growth and food security. 

SUPPORT FOR AGRICULTURAL DEVELOPMENT IN FOCUS COUNTRIES 

IEHA’s strategic objective is to rapidly increase agricultural growth and rural in-
comes in Sub-Saharan Africa to reduce both poverty and hunger by harnessing the 
power of new agricultural production and processing technologies; improving the ef-
ficiency of agricultural trade and market systems; building the capacity of commu-
nity and producer-based organizations; and integrating vulnerable groups and coun-
tries into sustainable development processes. 
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IEHA’s focus is on smallholders in rural areas who are poor but have the capacity 
to improve their situation. Programs that target smallholder-based agricultural 
growth give the hungry access to food by both raising their incomes and reducing 
the price of food. Increased rural income also has positive effects on poverty 
throughout the economy, which is especially significant in Africa because three-
quarters of the continent’s malnourished children are found in households that de-
pend on small farms for their livelihoods. 

IEHA invests in several key areas and subsectors to enhance agricultural sector 
productivity. Key subsectors include maize, rice, cassava, cotton, coffee, and horti-
culture. In general IEHA allocates 35 percent of its resources to scientific and tech-
nological applications, which are raising the productivity of farms and firms and in-
creasing the stability and volume of the food supply. Agricultural technology also 
improves product quality, relieves pressure on natural resources, reduces post-har-
vest losses, helps producers respond to markets, helps entrepreneurs develop profit-
able enterprises, raises farm incomes, and lowers the price of food to consumers. 

To help improve the policy environment, IEHA devotes around 20 percent of its 
resources to developing human capital and institutions, which are fundamental to 
sustaining agricultural growth. In the public sector, Africans must shape and lead 
policy and research, and in the private sector, they must organize to advocate for 
improved policies and must lead producer and other organizations that connect their 
members with markets and services. 

With regard to increasing agricultural trade and private sector development, 
IEHA allocates 25 percent of its funds to increasing the efficiency of agricultural 
trade and market systems, which are improving African competitiveness in export 
and domestic markets, are connecting African farmers to consumers, and are inte-
grating African countries into global markets. More effective market systems add 
value to products and processes, deliver high-quality, safe products, and reduce costs 
for consumers. The remaining 20 percent of the resources are dedicated to assisting 
vulnerable populations. 

FOOD AID AND FOOD SECURITY 

In addition to the initiatives already underway, the Administration is requesting 
authority under PL 480 to use up to 25 percent of appropriated Title II food aid 
funds for the local or regional purchase and distribution of food in those situations 
where speedy food delivery is critical to saving beneficiary lives. The purchase of 
food in Africa could also help sustain local production, improve incomes, and stimu-
late trade linkages—all which can reduce the root causes of food insecurity, mal-
nutrition and cycles of famine, and allow us to use our food aid budget more effec-
tively. While the House Foreign Affairs Committee version of the 2007 farm bill pro-
poses to require that at least $40 million of International Disaster and Famine As-
sistance be devoted to famine relief and prevention, those funds are required for 
other critical disaster and humanitarian relief needs. We require this authority in 
P.L. 480 Title II. 

The House Foreign Affairs Committee farm bill includes a non-waivable minimum 
for Title II non-emergency food aid. We strongly oppose this provision. The require-
ment of $600 million in Title II for non-emergency programs—$250 million above 
current levels—would result in an equivalent decrease in emergency food aid. Emer-
gency food aid saves countless lives each year. While non-emergency food aid pro-
grams have an important long-term impact, they should not be increased by putting 
at risk the lives of people affected by emergencies and the flexibility of the US gov-
ernment to respond to emergencies. 

CONCLUDING REMARKS 

Agriculture can and does play a strategically important role in promoting food se-
curity. USAID is playing a lead role, globally and locally, in working with African 
leaders and the development community to build the necessary coalitions and alli-
ances. Through a united approach combining AFR, EGAT and FFP resources, our 
development and technical assistance have made important contributions to ad-
dressing food security. 

Fundamentally, the challenge of food security and agricultural development in Af-
rica must first and foremost be addressed by Africa’s leaders. Their vision and aspi-
rations reflected in CAADP are an important stride forward. It is important that 
we and others provide credible support for these African-led efforts, including the 
strengthening of the regional food market and trade systems that will play such a 
large role in securing African food security. Our role is to assist in strengthening 
the agricultural enabling environment and in tackling the fundamental development 
challenges related to increased productivity and investment, while making sure that 
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citizens understand that they and their governments must take responsibility for 
their future, as this is the key to development.

Mr. PAYNE. Well, thank you very much, Mr. Hess, for those re-
marks. I also would like to recognize Franklin Moore who, I hap-
pen to be a member of the U.N.’s team convention to combat 
desertification and Mr. Moore worked with us on that convention. 
It is good to see him here. Let me begin, Mr. Hess. In your written 
testimony you said that the United States is providing assistance 
to support agriculture in 20 countries in Africa. 

Exactly how much does USAID expect to spend on these pro-
grams this year, and how does that compare to what we spent on 
agricultural development programs last year? 

Mr. HESS. Unfortunately, Chairman Payne, I am going to have 
to get back with you on the record with those numbers because I 
want to make sure that we compile all of the numbers. As you 
know we have a new system that tracks those numbers, and I don’t 
have them available for you today, but I will get back on the record 
for you. 

Mr. PAYNE. Okay. You said that USAID has done some studies 
on the impact that the United States subsidies have made on agri-
cultural sectors in Africa. Do you have that information at hand 
also or would you have to get back to me on that? 

Mr. HESS. I will submit that for the record as well, sir. 
Mr. PAYNE. All right. In your testimony you mentioned that agri-

cultural sector in sub-Saharan Africa seems to be on the verge of 
taking off with its share of the world’s traditional agricultural ex-
ports growing from approximately 7 percent to 11 percent since 
1997. In your opinion what accounts for this increase in agricul-
tural exports, and is an increase of 4 percent over a decade signifi-
cant? 

Mr. HESS. That is a good question, sir, and obviously we think 
it is important because even though it is a 4-percent over a decade 
it represents a fairly substantial number when you talk about the 
overall growth in export. As I said in my remarks markets are key 
here, not just international markets but regional markets and mar-
kets within country. Without access to the markets as Ranking 
Member Smith mentioned the farmers, even if they had the in-
creased productivity have no way to sell their product and their 
produce. 

We think that this increase in trade, and increase in market 
availability and access is crucial so that they can increase not only 
their sales but increase the amount of revenue that they get out 
of those sales. As I mentioned, we have to be able to connect the 
farmers to those markets, and sometimes those are across borders. 
We can’t just focus on a country, and that is why we have taken 
a regional approach to this and the international approach. 

We all know the example of the Rwandan coffee farmers who 
now sell their coffee to Starbucks. That is nice, that is good, but 
I would like to see it developed on a local basis and a regional basis 
as well so that we can increase the productivity and the sales to 
the market structures in Africa itself. 

Mr. PAYNE. Thank you. There has been a discussion about the 
MCA, and as you know MCA is country specific and in some of our 
hearings even from one of the organizations in Africa, COMESA, 
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it was suggested that a regional approach might be something that 
should be considered. Regional compacts are not a part of the cur-
rent MCA program. 

As you look at this whole food assistance question and some of 
the things you have mentioned what is your opinion on the possi-
bility of MCA going beyond country specific compacts to include a 
regional compact? 

Mr. HESS. Since MCA does not work in a vacuum—we work with 
them, we work very closely with them in terms of implementing 
programs throughout Africa, and because we coordinate very close-
ly with them and because we believe in working on a regional basis 
as well I would submit that if MCA worked in isolation and did not 
work closely with us in terms of implementing these programs we 
would have a problem. 

By virtue of the fact that we work through organizations such as 
COMESA obviously that is important for a regional approach and 
alleviating food insecurity. I think by coordinating better between 
USAID and MCA, which we are already doing, I think we can 
achieve the same result. 

Mr. PAYNE. All right. My final question, several months ago 
there was an article in the New York Times talking about the 
breakdown of universities in Africa and the fact that the system 
needs a tremendous amount of support and improvement. At one 
time many decades ago the universities in Africa that would spe-
cialize. The university in Uganda was the best in the continent in 
terms of training physicians and the people would go there. Other 
countries had universities that would have the engineering pro-
grams, et cetera. 

I just wonder, as you know here in the United States, our farm-
ers benefit from assistance provided by colleges and universities 
which engage in every sort of research imaginable from how to im-
prove input to how to increase the number of crops per year to how 
to make marginal lands arable and reliable for productive work. 
Let me just ask, is USAID funding programs aimed at building the 
capacity of African universities to do the same? 

Secondly, what type of programs do USAID support that are spe-
cifically focused on training Africans in the area of agricultural de-
velopment, agronomy and other highly technical fields that would 
increase the capacity at the country level to carry out development 
activities? 

Mr. HESS. Obviously, as I mentioned earlier the holistic approach 
that we are looking at, it is not just food and security and delivery 
of food and food aid as you suggested in your opening remarks. 
This has to be a holistic approach, and the education and univer-
sities play a large role in that. We have worked very closely with 
Cornell University and other land grant colleges. We work with 
Michigan State University, and Mali in particular and Cornell Uni-
versity. 

We used them in Uganda when there were problems with—the 
product is slipping out of my mind. I am having a mature moment. 

Mr. PAYNE. I can appreciate that. 
Mr. HESS. The banana and the cabasa, the root crops. Cassava. 

Thank you. It is mature moments. 
Mr. PAYNE. Yes. 
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Mr. HESS. We worked very closely with Cornell and other univer-
sities to work with local institutions in Africa and universities so 
that they can develop these disease resistant strains and also 
drought resistant strains so that we can increase that capacity be-
cause if we don’t increase the capacity you are absolutely right, we 
won’t get there. So those are just a few examples of how we have 
worked through land grant colleges to help rebuild those univer-
sities. You are right, it has to be done there. 

Mr. PAYNE. Thank you very much. Mr. Smith. 
Mr. SMITH OF NEW JERSEY. Thank you very much, Mr. Chair-

man. Mr. Hess, the President’s Initiative to End Hunger in Africa 
was launched approximately 5 years ago. Is there an evaluation as 
to its effectiveness? Has it resulted in additional resources being al-
located to Ag developmental systems in Africa? My second question 
deals with and really follows-up on the chairman’s question with 
regards to higher education. 

Both Don Payne and I come from New Jersey and probably one 
of the most effective agricultural colleges that I have ever known 
is Rutgers. They do an enormous amount of work. They have in-
creased the possibility of farmers—after all, we are the Garden 
State. Notwithstanding what some people may think from viewing 
Saturday Night Live, we do have an enormous amount of Ag in the 
State of New Jersey, and Rutgers is critical to that development. 

Peter McPherson, the former USAID director during the Reagan 
administration who I knew very well when he served in that capac-
ity, points out in his testimony that we have become increasingly 
concerned that the role of higher education is not fully appreciated 
in the present development of the environment. 

He says we are troubled that the present level of emphasis on 
higher education will not support or sustain a new mission state-
ment of USAID which is, ‘‘helping to build and sustain Democratic 
well-governed states,’’ and then he goes on from there. The point 
is, has there been a diminution of that kind of support for higher 
education like Rutgers? There are a number of examples that you 
provide in your testimony where resources are directed to devel-
oping human capital and institution, but is that enough? 

It would seem to me that the professors and the experiments 
that can be had, the Green Revolution which Peter McPherson 
makes mention of in his testimony or it might have been in yours, 
the bottom line is that criticism accurate from Mr. McPherson? 
Those two questions to begin. 

Mr. HESS. Yes, sir. I will start with the first one on IEHA and 
the ability to focus the administration’s resources. By going 
through IEHA, for example, we focus on five of the first 12 CAADP 
countries, and so we are able to focus resources. We also focus re-
sources on two other what we consider hungry hotspots, Malawi 
and Niger. As you know, Niger runs a chronic malnutrition rate of 
around 13.4 percent which is right on the edge of an emergency 
threshold of 15 percent, and so we focus on Niger, Malawi. 

We also focus as I mentioned the five of the first 12 CAADP 
countries, Kenya, Uganda, Zambia, Ghana and Mali. So as you can 
see, through this effort we are focusing our resources on those 
countries where we think: 1) CAADP is taking hold; and 2) where 
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there is also what we call hunger hotspots. So IEHA has helped us 
to do that. Now, getting to higher education. 

Obviously, I believe in the higher education. I come from Okla-
homa. My father went to Oklahoma A&M, now Oklahoma State, 
another land grant college. I submit the best one in the country, 
but that is my father, and my son went there, too, but you know, 
I will have to concede to our good friend, Peter McPherson, back 
here. Is it enough? It is never enough. I think we can do more, and 
we are focusing on that. 

We are focusing on increasing our technical resources and abili-
ties within USAID to work with those land grant colleges so that 
we can build the capacities as I said to Chairman Payne within the 
local universities within Africa itself, and I think that is the critical 
point. We can’t do this for them. We have to give them the capacity 
and the capability to do it themselves and that is what we are fo-
cusing on. 

I am sure Peter wants us to give more, but we are working on 
that as well. 

Mr. SMITH OF NEW JERSEY. Let me ask you, thank you, with re-
gards to your statement that since 1998 USAID has provided an 
estimated $1.35 billion in DA not including food for peace develop-
ment food aid to support African agricultural development you 
mentioned earlier about how you are working in a collaborative 
way with the Millennium Challenge Corporation and I am won-
dering how well, and I am sure it is well, but if you could elaborate 
on it, you work with your own office dealing with microcredit, 
which obviously for many of the smaller farmers that small loan 
can make all the difference in the world. 

Mr. HESS. That is an excellent point, sir. I sit here as the head 
of a bureau, but as you know there are three bureaus within 
USAID that focus on these issues, our Economic Growth and Agri-
cultural Trade Bureau, our Africa Bureau itself and obviously us 
on DCHA, so I am just a tip of an iceberg so to speak. A very large 
tip, but a tip nonetheless. That is key because when you look at 
the holistic, for example, in governance we have to think about 
issues like land tenure. 

I didn’t address it. I addressed it in the written testimony but 
not in my oral one. If we don’t address land tenure issues from a 
governance perspective, if we don’t address these cross-border trade 
issues from a governance perspective, and Africa Bureau worked 
very hard on that, then we won’t succeed. Our Economic Growth 
and Agriculture, our Trade Bureau works very closely on market 
development, microfinance, microcredit issues at the same time. 

That is what I was referring to very elusively on the holistic ap-
proach. We can’t just focus on one aspect of this; it has to be a ho-
listic approach. It also involves water. As the chairman mentioned, 
water is critical here. WHO estimates that 80 percent of the chil-
dren die from water borne diseases. So water, and clean water, and 
keeping the water clean and using the water is critical to this as 
well, and that is what I mean about a holistic approach. That is 
why we work together across the board on this. 

Mr. SMITH OF NEW JERSEY. One final question. You point out, 
and you might want to elaborate on this because it is a good news 
story, that in Uganda the share of population living in poverty de-
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creased from 56 percent in 1992 to 31 percent in 2005, and you 
point out how important the food issue is to that. Can I ask you 
if you would to speak to that issue, but also, the issue of organic 
farming, what it is they are doing vis-à-vis pesticides and the like? 

We have a number of issues in the United States and a lot of 
us are concerned about the food chain. We know that mercury in 
fish and its relation as thimerosal in immunizations and the huge 
spike that we have seen in things like autism are attributable in 
part to genetic predisposition but also to the contaminants. I am 
wondering how vigilant we are, and this is again where the univer-
sities come in and so much of the expertise to ensuring that the 
food is as pristine as it could possibly be in addition to being plenti-
ful and available. 

Mr. HESS. Right. That is obviously very key, and Uganda is a 
good success story in it, and there again we worked very closely 
with Cornell University in terms of developing and looking at their 
biotech future development. 

Biotech is not a bad word obviously in this context because we 
do look at the organic naturally grown, but if we can use the 
biotech to increase productivity such as we did in Uganda where 
we can tell that success story, certainly in the western part of 
Uganda where we are seeing the rise out of it, but obviously, we 
focus very clearly on making sure that as much of this is organic 
and clean as possible because that is how we sustain growth for the 
future. 

Mr. SMITH OF NEW JERSEY. Okay. Thank you. Thank you, Mr. 
Chairman. 

Mr. PAYNE. Thank you very much. Ms. Watson. 
Ms. WATSON. Thank you so much, Mr. Chairman, and thank you, 

Mr. Hess, for being here with us on this panel. So I would like to 
hear your views on the potential of specialty crops to contribute to 
African agricultural development. Recently, Starbucks reached an 
agreement with the Government of Ethiopia to respect Ethiopia’s 
effort to trademark their fine coffees. 

Congressman Honda and myself were leaning on Starbucks to 
work the Ethiopians, and I am glad they eventually saw the value 
of that approach. Now, are you familiar with what is going on 
there, and what do you think will be the legacy of this agreement 
and can it be a model for other countries in Africa? 

Mr. HESS. I think these are critical because as I mentioned on 
the markets it is not enough just to be able to produce more, you 
have to have the markets in which to sell this. Obviously, if we can 
get to companies like Starbucks and they can sell the Rwandan 
model where the farmers now no longer live in poverty because 
they are able to sell their coffee through Starbucks, I can’t afford 
it but others can, then that is fine, and that is great. 

I think we have to do a little bit more than that, and that is why 
I think we have to focus not on just the international markets. 
These are excellent. It does a number of things. One, it increases 
the standards among and within Ethiopian farmers so that they 
know that they have to produce a certain standard and quality of 
a commodity, coffee, maize, sorghum, wheat. 

When they understand that, when it is up to that level to be ac-
ceptable for international trade as Congressman Smith points out 
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that it is better for their own people as well. When we can 
commoditize that and do that on a regular basis then we have 
more access to international markets. I will submit to you we can 
have better regional trade as well. If you look at issues of trading 
with other countries in the region and some barriers that have ex-
isted if we had the standards then we could increase that local 
marketplace as well. 

I think that is a key when we are working with the World Food 
Program, I think as you know, to increase the standardization so 
that they can buy more commodities on the local market, and that 
is an important step to reinforce that. 

Ms. WATSON. In defense of Ethiopia and maybe Kenya their cof-
fee bean were the best. I used to bring them back way back in the 
1980s when I visited there. I think that they were discovered by 
Starbucks, and Starbucks has made a fortune. There are two 
Starbucks in the same block in one part of my district, so they are 
doing quite well, there is a tremendous out there for the product, 
and I am concerned about what then benefits. 

It is not that the standard was not there when they found that 
coffee bean, it was there, so I have to not go along with you on rais-
ing, the standard was there. What was concern to me is that the 
share of the profits weren’t proportional and they weren’t I think 
equal or justifiable. So I am hoping now that what they have been 
able to agree upon will be the model. 

Certainly I know about other areas where the standards of grow-
ing certain crops haven’t been up, but I do know they had an out-
standing coffee bean in Ethiopia and an outstanding coffee bean in 
Kenya before Starbucks came as a major corporation utilizing bene-
fiting. 

Mr. HESS. I apologize if I misspoke there. 
Ms. WATSON. Okay. I understand. 
Mr. HESS. It is not that the standard didn’t exist; it is being able 

to articulate that standard and what the standard is to the market-
place. Unless the marketplace understands that product is up to 
that level then we have got to educate both the market and the 
buyers at the same time. Your point on the share of profits is crit-
ical, and that is where I think the technology that we are using in 
SMS messaging, for example, on commodity prices for marketplaces 
is critical. 

Farmers get taken advantage of in many places around the world 
because they do not have good market information. The more we 
work on these SMS texting products so that farmers can under-
stand where the best prices are and where we can bring them to-
gether in cooperatives, and this is another function that our Eco-
nomic Growth and Agriculture Trade Bureau works on, is to elimi-
nate that middleman so that farmers can come together and get 
the best possible prices, and they get the benefit as opposed to the 
middleman. 

Ms. WATSON. Yes. I would hope that USAID would focus on as-
sisting these countries and the farmers, the poorer ones, in how to 
do business in the global market, because you use the word advan-
tage, they get exploited, and not only in agriculture but in their 
minerals and so on. Just an example, it spreads across from agri-
culture into other resources. We were in a little small kingdom 
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called Mafikeng, which is part of South Africa, within South Africa, 
and there was a platinum mine discovered. 

The Queen Mother, I told my group that she was sending her 
young people abroad to learn the technology and the skills to min-
ing the platinum so they could build a new town, new homes, new 
villages for their people. That is coming into the new world in a 
big way. She just happened to have a son, who is now the King, 
husband died, who was educated in the West and very familiar 
with how—she goes to Wall Street. 

So I am just saying, we need to assist them more in the technical 
skills that they need, and I know that USAID is aware of that, and 
so I really would hope that we would do more in that regard. Let 
me move on, and then I will yield back whatever time I have left, 
Mr. Chairman. I just wanted one more. 

What priorities does the USAID accord to agricultural develop-
ment assistance in Africa, and this is in response to the example 
I just laid out, and what effort is USAID making to raise the pri-
ority given to agricultural development in various other countries 
of Africa? 

Mr. HESS. That is a very good point, ma’am, and in our foreign 
assistance process as you know the budget allocation, which we are 
currently going through for the 2009 budget cycle, agricultural de-
velopment is in a number of the program areas and subprogram 
areas, so independently it has gotten the increased visibility that 
it needs through the budgeting cycle. I think this is critical because 
if it is not in those program areas and subprogram areas they were 
not necessarily on a holistic basis getting the recognition they 
needed. 

I think by giving them the emphasis that they get on the pro-
gram area and subprogram area that gives them that foothold in 
the budget process. I think we are recognizing that more and more. 

Ms. WATSON. I want to thank you very much and I want to 
thank the chair, too. The staff has done an outstanding job in giv-
ing us some of the data on countries that are really literally starv-
ing because they can’t feed their people, and so we have a lot of 
work to do. I do know that USAID contributes greatly to it. 

I know your overhead in some places is very high, but I hope 
that we can balance that with providing the kind of information 
that will help these countries feed their own people and help these 
countries benefit from their own resources because I think, Mr. 
Chairman, that the continent of Africa will be our focal point in the 
next 10 years because they have all the resources needed to sustain 
our needs in the West for hundreds of years. 

Thank you so much, and I yield back if I have anymore time. 
Mr. PAYNE. Thank you very much. Ms. Woolsey. 
Ms. WOOLSEY. Thank you, Mr. Chairman, and thank you, Mr. 

Hess. Congresswoman Watson is a perfect lead in to me regarding 
overhead. A GAO report recently shows that transportation and 
business costs represent 65 percent of the total U.S. emergency 
food aid, which of course is not food to the people. In the rise of 
these costs it is contributed to a 52 percent decline in average ton-
nage delivered over the last 5 years. 

Is this flattening out? What are we doing about it? What can we 
do about it? 
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Mr. HESS. Obviously, the transportation costs; we don’t have 
much flexibility in that regard. We are looking for that increased 
flexibility in terms of local purchase options which the administra-
tion has put forward even in the current version of the Farm Bill 
where we are asking to be able to produce or to buy commodities 
locally up to 25 percent. That obviously cuts down on that trans-
portation cost considerably. 

With rising fuel prices that is not going to go anyway but up. 
Certainly commodity prices have been going up as well. We have 
seen a four fold increase in commodity prices. That certainly re-
duces the amount that we can buy with the same amount of money 
obviously, but we think if we have the increased flexibility of the 
local purchase that will help alleviate some of that problem and get 
us more commodities delivered to where they are needed. 

Ms. WOOLSEY. Well, how difficult is it to move the product locally 
from area to area? 

Mr. HESS. Well, for example, right now we have a drought going 
on in southern Africa. At the same time we are having some parts 
of southern Africa where we could be buying commodities. Malawi 
right now has a surplus in maize, and we could be purchasing 
there and using local transportation. It is not going to be a total 
wash, but obviously it is going to be a lot less than it is coming 
from the United States, so we could have some assistance there. 

Two years ago when we have a similar situation we had an ex-
cess capacity in South Africa, about 1 million tons of maize was ex-
cess, but we were shipping it from the United States So we could 
save some money there. 

Ms. WOOLSEY. How about the transportation routes? I mean, are 
they in place? Would that be a good way to give locals a way to 
earn money, and are we investing that? 

Mr. HESS. Absolutely. Well, we are certainly looking at that, and 
obviously, that is the increased need for that flexibility. As Con-
gressman Smith pointed out infrastructure is not always as robust 
as we would like to see it in Africa, but it does exist, and there are 
truckers there, and I would rather see them get the money and 
being able to then go out into the markets and buy as well. 

So there is a trade off there, but if we can do it at the local level 
we can save a fair amount of money. 

Ms. WOOLSEY. There is a CRS report that we have in our packet 
that shows sub-Saharan African cereal yield per hectare to be 
11,000 something and fertilizer consumption being 138, 139 grams 
per hectare and it is the lowest, the fertilizer per hectare, of any. 
Is that because of good practices or is it because of lack of ability 
to pay for fertilizer, and is that a direct relationship to less per hec-
tare in yield? 

Mr. HESS. Certainly increasing uses of fertilizer and increased 
productivity are important. We have programs that are ongoing in 
a number of countries so that when you do seed distribution we are 
also doing fertilizer distribution. Part of it is an educational proc-
ess, part of it is availability, and in some countries they subsidize 
fertilizer distribution as well as seeds. 

So when you combine all of these, and that is where I get into 
holistic approach to this, governments can play a role in this just 
as they did in this country years ago and still do. So I think, you 
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know, that is why we have to look at this as a holistic basis. Fer-
tilizer is important. It is education, it is availability and it is mak-
ing sure that governments were reasonable, and Malawi is a good 
example of it, help in the distribution of fertilizers. Key to produc-
tivity. 

Ms. WOOLSEY. And that it is used wisely. 
Mr. HESS. Absolutely. 
Ms. WOOLSEY. There is that, too. All right. Thank you, Mr. 

Chairman. Thank you, Mr. Hess. 
Mr. HESS. Yes, ma’am. 
Mr. PAYNE. Well, thank you very much. I know that USAID had 

done some studies on the impact of subsidies United States farmers 
on the agriculture in Africa, so I wonder if you could make that 
available to us. 

Mr. HESS. Yes, sir. 
Mr. PAYNE. There is a lot of concern. Of course, you are not in 

the Department of Agriculture, but many of us have concerns about 
some subsidies. One of my staffers, Noelle Lusane, visited Mali 
with OXFAM several years ago. Subsidies make the products in Af-
rica, as I mentioned before. And the current farm bill really doesn’t 
do much for U.S. minorities either. 

African-Americans, and Hispanics, and Asian-Americans, and 
Native Americas receive few or practically no benefits from the 
U.S. Farm Program when compared to others. According to the 
new OXFAM study producers of color are effectively shut out of 
U.S. farm programs due to the program’s design that favors large 
scale commodity growers and large landlords. 

Once again, let me thank you for your work for the United States 
in your previous capacity and what you are doing today. Thank you 
very much. 

Mr. HESS. Thank you, sir. 
Mr. PAYNE. Just one other question. Does USAID provide any fi-

nancial aid to African universities to do their own work with agri-
culture and so forth? 

Mr. HESS. I would have to get back to you on that, sir. I will 
have to check with our education people. That is a different bu-
reau. I will get back to you on the record for that to get the specific 
answer. 

[The information referred to follows:]

WRITTEN RESPONSE RECEIVED FROM THE HONORABLE MICHAEL E. HESS TO 
QUESTION ASKED DURING THE HEARING BY THE HONORABLE DONALD M. PAYNE 

USAID has had 20 U.S.-African higher education country partnerships in Africa 
from 1998 through the present. The focus of the work has been in agriculture and 
the intent of the work has been to involve African higher education institutions in 
joint work to achieve agriculture objectives and simultaneously strengthen African 
higher education institutions.

Mr. PAYNE. Thank you very much. All right. Thank you. We will 
now have the second panel come forward. We will be joined by two 
distinguished private panel witnesses today, Mr. Peter McPherson 
and Dr. Calestous Juma. Mr. McPherson is president of the Na-
tional Association of State Universities and Land-Grant Colleges, a 
public university association. Mr. McPherson is the founding co-
chair of the Partnership to Cut Hunger and Poverty in Africa, and 
also the chair of the IFDC and Harvest Plus. 
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He was Administrator for USAID from 1981 to 1987, and in that 
role was responsible for leading the United States efforts to re-
spond to the devastating famine that occurred in the Horn of Africa 
in 1984 and 1985. Prior to his time with USAID he was a Special 
Assistant to President Gerald Ford in the White House. 

Our second panelist is Dr. Calestous Juma, a Kenyan national. 
Dr. Juma is professor of the Practice of International Development 
and Director of Science, Technology and Globalization Projects at 
Harvard University’s Kennedy School of Government. He is a 
former executive secretary of the United Nations Convention on Bi-
ology Diversity, founding director of the Africa Center for Tech-
nology Studies in Nairobi and is currently on the Board of Direc-
tors of EARTH University in Costa Rica. 

Dr. Juma is co-chair of the Africa High-Level Panel on Modern 
Biotechnology of the Africa Union and the New Partnership for Af-
rica’s Development, NEPAD. He has been elected to several sci-
entific and academic academies including the Royal Society of Lon-
don, the Royal Academy of Engineering, the U.S. National Acad-
emy of Sciences and the Academy of Sciences for the Developing 
World. 

We certainly look forward to our witnesses, and we will start 
with you, Mr. McPherson. 

STATEMENT OF PETER MCPHERSON, J.D., PRESIDENT, THE 
NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF STATE UNIVERSITIES AND 
LAND-GRANT COLLEGES 

Mr. MCPHERSON. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. First of all, Mr. 
Chairman, it is good to be with you all. 

Mr. PAYNE. Push that little button there. 
Mr. MCPHERSON. Congressman Smith has asked me questions 

many times in this room, and I am glad to be back to have the op-
portunity to talk with you. I very much appreciate this committee’s 
putting a focus on agriculture. Agriculture tends to go in and out 
of style, but in fact in much of Africa with such a dominant rural 
population history tells us that if you are going to make real 
progress you have got to have increased food production in such 
countries. 

We forget that periodically, and frankly, almost in a bipartisan 
manner both Congress and administrations have over now some 15 
years, it has gradually been crowded out by other things. That 
work needs to be not just food, it needs to be long-term work in 
agriculture, and that means a set of things. I agree with the former 
testifier that you must have a holistic approach, but it has to be 
whole. 

There are some things which we frankly have just neglected. You 
take the structure of your last question, Mr. Chairman, about work 
with the universities in Africa to build them. There is virtually 
none of that today. Historically, it was a big part of what we do. 
It needs to be the African universities driving their own structure. 
A lot more work is now going into K–12 with USAID budgets, but 
you can’t build a nation on high school graduates alone. 

The training, it is interesting, in the mid-1980s we were bringing 
to this country, Congressman Watson talked about this a moment 
ago, lots of people, about 15,000 on the average a year, last year 
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it was 1,000. We have almost gotten out of the business of training 
people in the United States from abroad through the USAID Pro-
gram. Those people, Africans and others, need to create technology. 

You mentioned the Green Revolution, Mr. Chairman. It is that 
and it is more. When you look at the history of civilization over the 
last generations, and I think even longer, technology has been a 
principal driver of real economic change, some other things some-
times, but real economic change. So you have got to look at the uni-
versity structure, the training of people, the technology, creation, 
and they all sort of reinforce each other. 

Now, USAID in all fairness has really moved away from that ef-
fort. I was struck by the written testimony of Mr. Hess, who I have 
known for some time. We were in Iraq together for a bit. He is a 
brave, good public servant, but in his testimony it didn’t mention 
research as the priority areas of problems. USAID really has 
moved away from these efforts. Congress in some ways has moved 
away from these efforts over now some time. 

I want to go back and make a basic point. While I think these 
are important things to do they are important particularly if Afri-
cans want them. When I think of the way assistance was run 25 
years ago there wasn’t nearly the sensitivity for perhaps a lot of 
reasons of what we really know, that African countries’ leaders, 
people, need to drive what they are going to do. 

Conditionality didn’t work very well, persuasion. It needs to be 
them. That is why the MCC concept has some real value. Ask 
them. Incidentally, the MCC process has almost uniformly pro-
duced big agricultural requests, much, much bigger than the 
USAID allocations. It is like trying to tell the states or are commu-
nities just how they should do it. I mean, we expect to be asked 
out there, don’t we? 

These are smart, confident—when you look at countries that 
have really made progress in recent years in Africa it is countries 
that took charge of their own future, Ghana, Uganda, Mali, Mo-
zambique. Well, there is a lot that we can do here. Mr. Chairman, 
you mentioned the CRSP Program which is an excellent example. 
Not the only research we should do but certainly very important, 
training and so forth. 

I know our time is short, and Dr. Juma has much to say, but I 
think if we are going to really change things in terms of our assist-
ance program, one, the Agency has to decide with you that they are 
going to put a lot more emphasis on long-term agriculture work. I 
see some of my former colleagues here. I have enormous affection 
for the dedication of these folks, so this is no way a criticism of the 
individuals as far as how the institution has come about. 

I think part of what might be that effort to get it done is I really 
believe there needs to be some structural changes within USAID 
where the university really is an advocate and a driver for this set 
of issues, of building universities, of training, of research. The uni-
versity community in this country stands ready. It is a tiny part 
of university budgets like Michigan State. 

You know, I had an outside research budget of $350 million, com-
petitive bid, USAID, was just a couple million, but there are people 
there that really want to do this. Mr. Chairman, members, it is 
good to be here. 
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[The prepared statement of Mr. McPherson follows:]

PREPARED STATEMENT OF PETER MCPHERSON, J.D., PRESIDENT, THE NATIONAL 
ASSOCIATION OF STATE UNIVERSITIES AND LAND-GRANT COLLEGES 

INTRODUCTION: 

Mr. Chairman, and distinguished Members of the Committee, thank you for invit-
ing me to speak to you about ‘‘Food Security in Africa: the Impact of Agricultural 
Development.’’

Africa has been a challenge for the development community. As Administrator of 
USAID in the 1980s, I was engaged in these issues and as President of Michigan 
State University, an institution with a rich history of development work in Africa, 
I continued my interest and concern about African development. In that position I 
actively engaged a wide array of stakeholders to form The Partnership to Cut Hun-
ger and Poverty in Africa. The Partnership was formed in 2000 to formulate a vi-
sion, strategy, and action plan to significantly increase public and private invest-
ment in African economic development and to increase the effectiveness of U.S. as-
sistance to strengthen African agricultural and rural development. Now as president 
of NASULGC, an association of the largest US public universities with a long and 
distinguished history of development work in Africa, I am deeply engaged in discus-
sions concerning the role of higher education in development in Africa with growing 
concern about the declining roles of agriculture and higher education in the U.S. 
government development portfolio. 

Mr. Chairman I want to thank you personally for your support on a number of 
issues regarding food aid, the African Growth and Opportunity Act, and trade. Both 
the House and the Senate have provided strong report language in the State, For-
eign Relations and Related Agencies Appropriations Bill that stresses the impor-
tance of agriculture in the development process. This year’s World Development Re-
port focuses on agriculture’s critical role in development, particularly in Africa. My 
testimony today emphasizes these points and argues that to develop agriculture we 
must produce new knowledge, science and technology and to create and sustain that 
production we need to assist Africa in building human and institutional capacity 
that are fundamental to any advances in production, marketing and trade. 

KEY POINTS OF THE TESTIMONY: 

• Agriculture is a critical component of the lives and the economies of Africa. 
It is imperative that the development community appreciate its role. While 
funding has diminished over the last 15–20 years, there are some signs of re-
newed interest.

• Agricultural development is fundamental to any broad-based economic devel-
opment on the continent and agriculture has been shown to produce more eq-
uitable growth in personal income than other forms of development. Gener-
ating and extending research, knowledge and technology, building African 
human capacity to conduct research and supporting the capacity of institu-
tions to produce creative and productive people is essential to the process.

• U.S. universities have a long history of development successes and have 
played a major role in developing such human and institutional capacity and 
generating new technologies, both home and abroad. While higher education 
provides the greatest opportunity for economic growth, the USG development 
funding has not focused on strengthening higher education in Africa.

• Faced with the retirement and loss of a generation of African scientists (many 
trained at U.S. universities), we ask for support to devote resources to part-
ner with African institutions to build their capacity and assist them to train 
the next generation of Africa scientists and scholars. For the past 30 years 
these resources were provided through a vibrant Title XII (Famine Prevention 
And Freedom From Hunger Improvement Act of 2000), the CRSP programs 
and CGIAR; all of which have been or are slated for major funding cuts. 

SUPPORT FOR HIGHER EDUCATION IN DEVELOPMENT IN AFRICA 

We have become increasingly concerned that the role of higher education is not 
fully appreciated in the present development environment. The recent 2005 USAID 
Education Strategy: Improving Lives through Learning places strong emphasis on 
basic education but scantly mentions or recognizes the higher education’s role in 
international development. As an association representing the major public univer-
sities that have a long and deep commitment to the development of less-developed 
countries, we are troubled that the present level of emphasis on higher education 
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will not support nor sustain the new mission statement of USAID: ‘‘helping to build 
and sustain democratic well governed states that will respond to the needs of their 
people and conduct themselves responsibly in the international system.’’

Much greater support for basic education exists in Congress and the development 
community than for higher education. Based on very limited work in the late 1970s, 
basic education was found to have a higher rate of return than higher education. 
Donors focused on those studies to promote basic education. No doubt basic edu-
cation is critical for development but, as opposed to competing with higher edu-
cation, the development portfolio should be a balanced continuum of opportunity 
that allows the best and brightest to succeed. In an information world with a global 
economy, higher education is critical to developing businesses, negotiating treaties 
and contracts, and creating the stability that is necessary for comprehensive na-
tional development. The university community needs to participate in a coordinated 
effort to make this point with Congress, USAID and the MCC. 

Unfortunately donor support for higher education degree training has waned dra-
matically over the last decade. USAID’s efforts in this regard have diminished sub-
stantially. The Agency has gone from training more than 15,000 students who 
earned higher education degrees in the early 1990s to less than 1,000 today. Many 
African countries struggle to maintain even low enrollment levels, and the academic 
research output in the region is among the world’s lowest. 

We strongly support basic education as fundamental to development and the rates 
of return of those investments are solid. Still most people understand that a country 
cannot build a competitive economy in the 21st century on 8th grade or high school 
education alone. ‘‘Higher education produces the entrepreneurs, the creative think-
ers, the business leaders that generate economic growth and turn poor countries 
into prosperous ones. Tertiary education exercises a direct influence on national pro-
ductivity which largely determines living standards and a country’s ability to com-
pete in the globalization process.’’ 1 

In summary, Africa faces a multitude of challenges that will affect how successful 
development efforts will be. Clearly, agriculture is key to making that development 
successful. Successful agricultural development is most directly achieved through in-
vestment in human and institutional capacity that will generate the knowledge, 
technologies and leaders to eradicate famine and food shortages, and build econo-
mies that support stable and democratic societies in Africa. NASULGC and the 
Partnership stand ready to assist you in this critical process. 

We need to reengage the power of our U.S. land-Grant institutions to assist Africa 
to build its higher education and research institutions and train another generation 
of scientists and academic to lead a green revolution for Africa. We ask the sub-
committee to reconsider revitalizing Title XII, creating new linkage programs that 
build African human and institutional capacity and to recognize and advocate for 
the role of higher education as a vital component of development strategy for Africa. 

AFRICAN AGRICULTURE AND IT CHALLENGES. 

Livelihoods in Sub-Saharan Africa (SSA) are heavily linked to agriculture and 
agrarian livelihoods. Approximately 45.2 percent of the region’s population is located 
in areas of low density, with 70 to 80 percent of the total labor force employed in 
the agricultural sector. Agriculture in SSA contributes about 35 percent of the total 
GDP of southern Africa, and approximately 30 percent of the region’s foreign ex-
change earnings.2 The heavy reliance on agriculture for livelihoods underscores the 
necessity for gains in agricultural improvements in production and efficiency. The 
state of agriculture in SSA is severely affected by climatic, agro-ecological, natural 
resource, input, and labor constraints. While inadequate rainfall and poor quality 
soils are the primary production constraints, high rates of evapotranspiration, high 
transport costs, lack of access to fertilizers, and access to technology further reduce 
yield potential. While food production has increased in SSA, it has done so mainly 
by bringing marginal lands into cultivation. However there are notable successes 
such as Mali, Ghana and Mozambique where improved policies, new varieties and 
technologies have improved lives and economies significantly. 

In addition, ‘‘most Africans live in the subhumid or arid tropics, with few rivers 
to provide irrigation and a lack of the large alluvial plains typical of much of South 
and East Asia that permit cheap irrigation. As a result, Africa has the lowest share 
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of irrigated cropland of any major region of the developing world.’’ 3 Thus, despite 
the appearance of abundant land, many parts of SSA are fast approaching the limits 
to sustainable agricultural production from existing resources. In addition, as nat-
ural resources on arable land are gradually depleted, population growth is gradually 
increasing, causing per capita food production to decline in almost all of the coun-
tries in southern Africa.4 

Due to limits on agricultural productivity and the relative geographic isolation of 
the large percentage of the SSA population, food insecurity is especially prevalent. 
‘‘Sub-Saharan Africa accounts for 13 percent of the population and 25 percent of the 
undernourished people in the developing world. It is the developing region with the 
highest proportion-one-third-of people suffering from chronic hunger.’’ 5 In order to 
address chronic hunger, improve food security, and enhance rural livelihoods, in-
vestments in agricultural development are essential. 

WHY IS AGRICULTURE AN IMPORTANT FOCUS FOR ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT AND HUMAN 
WELFARE IN AFRICA? 

The classical and widely held model of development projects that agricultural pro-
duction increases reduce the cost of food. Since food is a major component of the 
cost of living for the poor and agricultural is a substantial part of most rural Afri-
cans’ lives, this increase in efficiency has a broad impact. It reduces poverty for the 
majority, frees up capital to be spent in other sectors of the economy, and because 
greater efficiencies reduce labor demands in agriculture, it provides labor for growth 
in non-agricultural sectors. 

In a broad review of African development, a recent International Food Policy Re-
search Institute (IFPRI) study 6 shows that agriculture is truly an important engine 
of growth for Africa. While its role may vary among countries depending on a diver-
sity of conditions, agriculture is an especially strong force in poverty reduction, be-
cause it affects the rural poor who are a large component of the poor of Africa. The 
study concludes ‘‘most African countries cannot significantly reduce poverty, in-
crease per capita incomes, and transform into modern economies without focusing 
on agricultural development.’’ This conclusion is similar to that of another study 7 
of a broad range of developing countries that found that increasing agricultural pro-
ductivity is the most efficient way to reduce poverty and inequality. 

Yet another study 8 of 62 developing countries demonstrates the power of agricul-
tural development to increase national economic growth. The study shows that 
changes in agricultural productivity explained 54 percent of the growth in GDP per 
worker and that this increased efficiency, released labor from agriculture to other 
sectors that accounted for another 29 percent of the GDP growth. The remaining 
17 percent of GDP growth is from non-agricultural increases. 

Agriculture does not just grow economies it measurably improves human lives. A 
secure and diverse food supply increases child survival, improves cognitive and 
physical development of children and increases immune system function, including 
resistance to HIV/AIDS (a secure food supply also has an impact on the trajectory 
of this and other diseases). This linkage is aptly noted in the House report language 
as, ‘‘Food and nutrition are important components of a comprehensive approach to 
HIV/AIDS.’’ The institutional barriers created within funding agencies that prevent 
critical linkages among agriculture, food and human health and development often 
frustrate us. 

The importance of food can not be underestimated. In a recent study 9 in Kenya, 
children who received 2 oz of meat on school days (2/3 of the calendar days) 
preformed 20 percent higher on intelligence scores and achieved an increase of a 
grade-and-a-half higher in school. Think of the implications of that impact on cre-
ative capacity to compete in a knowledge based world when integrated to the na-
tional level; then think of the costs on chronic malnutrition to a national economy 
not only in lost potential but health care costs, lost productivity and wasted lives. 
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WHAT MAKES AGRICULTURAL PRODUCTIVITY INCREASE AND HOW DOES IT AFFECT FOOD 
SECURITY? 

Perhaps the most important revolution of the 20th century was a peaceful and 
a green one at that. Dr. Norman Borlaug used advanced breeding techniques to re-
design the wheat plant and make it considerably more productive, more adaptive 
to wide range of environments and more disease resistance (funded by USAID, 
Rockefeller and Ford Foundations). Dr. Borlaug received the Congressional Medal 
of Honor for his work. Part of Borlaug’s genius was his complete dedication to build 
human capacity in science that both advanced his vision more rapidly and left a sus-
tainable research capacity for developing countries. It is when research, human and 
institutional capacity are wed that science can generate solutions to human prob-
lems and it is when those elements are present in developing countries that we see 
major advances like those that Borlaug generated. Due to Borlaug, the post war 
famines of the Asia were extinguished in the early 1970s. For this effort Borlaug 
received the Noble Peace Prize in 1970. 

Food security is achieved by addressing a wide range of constraints. Some of these 
constraints are more obvious than others and more amenable to our development 
approaches. While connection to markets, trade policy and other components of what 
is termed an ‘‘enabling environment’’ are important elements to national develop-
ment they will depend on two factors. First and foremost, they depend on well-
trained, visionary indigenous people to design, implement and support them. In 
short, highly educated human capital is essential. 

Second, we need to increase agricultural productivity. Most of the recent gains in 
agricultural production in Africa have resulted from expanding the area of land cul-
tivated and not increasing the production per unit of land area. The implications 
are not just a decline in per acre production efficiency but a use of more marginal 
land with ever increasing negative impacts on the natural resource base. Increases 
in efficiency per acre are the result of improved technologies and access to inputs. 
The sustainable way to increase efficiencies is to create Africa capacity to generate 
new technologies; that is build the human capacity and build the institutions that 
generate that capacity—the universities and the agricultural research institutes. We 
need to make such investments. Evidence from rural Uganda indicates that public 
investments in agricultural R&D had the highest impact on poverty reduction of de-
velopment investments throughout the 1990s.10 In addition to financial resources, 
agricultural innovation requires human capital and, therefore, sustaining and im-
proving upon advances in agricultural R&D requires concurrent investments in gen-
eral education.11 

HOW DOES RESEARCH AND HIGHER EDUCATION CONTRIBUTE? 

If increases in agricultural productivity are essential to broad-based economic 
growth and those are largely dependent on the generation of new technologies, then 
what supports this development? We would argue that all of the following are crit-
ical: increased human creativity; capable institutions that generate new knowledge 
and technologies and transfer the information to the farmers and produce the 
human capacity; and valuable linkages to partner institutions to help facilitate that 
development. 

1. Higher education builds human capital at a level that is necessary to compete 
in a global economy. Global economic engagement requires sophisticated business 
knowledge, the ability to meet international standards of quality, negotiate appro-
priate agreements, craft complex financial mechanisms, understand and interpret 
the rules of engagement and to be both entrepreneurial and competent. Increased 
human capacity to conduct these endeavors will facilitate greater participation in 
global markets for the poor countries of the world. These are the job creators for 
all the basic education graduates being produced with the laudable emphasis on 
basic education. 

2. Just as human capital is necessary to conduct business, it is critical to build 
and maintain the institutions that generate new knowledge and technology, estab-
lish and maintain standards, create laws, and conduct business in ways that resem-
ble U.S. and international norms. Well-trained people create and sustain functional 
institutions that promote good economies and support good governance. Of USAID’s 
40-year investment in higher education degree training an outside review concluded: 
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‘‘Change at the institutional level of this magnitude is unusual in human resources 
and training programs and testifies to the extraordinary impact the ATLAS/
AFGRAD programs had in Africa.’’ 12 

3. Higher Education and research institutes generate knowledge that has economic 
impact, particularly in agriculture. In a study 13 of more than 1,800 rates of return 
to research in agriculture the median of the rate of return estimates was 48 percent 
per year for research, 62.9 percent for extension studies, 37 percent for studies that 
combined research and extension jointly, and 44.3 percent for all studies combined; 
a profitable investment by any standards but particularly so for a developing coun-
try. 

4. In a USAID commissioned evaluation of more than 3,000 African higher edu-
cation trainees educated in U.S. universities, supported by USAID, the evaluators 
found that the training had a marked effect on the impact of individuals, in build-
ing stronger institutions, and had a lasting impact on economic development and 
social contributions.14 The experience of training in the United States had numerous 
benefits beyond the technical skills acquired. A number of positive aspects of effi-
ciency and views of democracy were associated with links to an American education. 

Investing in higher education in developing countries is a critical component to 
long-term economic growth and stability, and crucial to agricultural development 
and poverty reduction. Investments in tertiary education promote ‘‘technological 
catch-up,’’ allowing countries to gain ground on more technologically advanced soci-
eties and maximize economic output. To illustrate the economic growth potential of 
tertiary education on GDP, a one-year increase in tertiary education stock would 
raise steady-state levels of African GDP per capita by 12.2 percent due to factor in-
puts, potentially boosting incomes by 3 percent after five years, a significant feat 
considering the trend towards decreasing incomes in some African countries.15 

In developed countries this effect has been well measured. According to the U.S. 
Census Bureau, high school graduates earn an average of $1.2 million, associate’s 
degree holders earn about $1.6 million, and bachelor’s degree holders earn about 
$2.1 million, over an adults working life.16 In the United States, average rates of 
return on investment for post-secondary education increased from 5.6 percent in 
1979 to 9.1 percent in 2004, consistent with average international rates of return 
across nine countries estimated at 9 percent.17 The increases in rates of return like-
ly reflect the increasing importance of education in a technology-knowledge based 
global economy. 

Perhaps the greatest contribution of higher education, however, is manifested in 
the indirect benefits to society. Based on a Carnegie Institute report,18 post-sec-
ondary education influences individual behavior, encouraging more open-minded, 
cultured, rational, and consistent individuals with less authoritarian tendencies. In 
addition, university enrollment has demonstrated a tendency to decrease prejudice, 
improve knowledge of global affairs, and improve social status. These benefits are 
in turn passed along to succeeding generations. Leadership training provides coun-
tries with talented individuals able to establish policy environments favorable to 
growth and sustainability. The promotion of education and literacy also encourages 
a social environment with an increased capacity for tolerance and understanding, 
and diminished tendencies towards prejudice and misconception, constructing a 
well-informed society with the ability to think critically and objectively, establishing 
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the foundation for democracy: a critical component of developing a more secure and 
stable world. 

WHAT HAVE U.S. LAND-GRANT INSTITUTIONS DONE FOR DEVELOPMENT IN THE PAST? 

The USAID dual training/capacity-building model was initiated in the early fifties 
and provided global leadership until the 1980s.19 Four early capacity-building expe-
riences chronicle the success of this model: 

• Philippines: Cornell University (with U.S. funding) helped elevate the college 
of agriculture at Los Banos in the Philippines to form the University of the 
Philippines Los Banos (UPLB) (Turk 1974). Today, UPLB is an important re-
gional graduate training center in agriculture for many students from Asia.

• India: USAID assisted India in developing a new university model called the 
State Agricultural University Model (Read 1974; Lele & Goldsmith 1989). 
Currently, 31 State Agricultural Universities serve India. India’s National Ag-
ricultural Research System has approximately 25,000 agricultural scientists 
in government and universities, representing 8,000 person-years of scientific 
talent.

• Ethiopia: From 1952 to 1968, Oklahoma State University, with USAID fund-
ing, assisted in building a productive College of Agriculture. Later, the Col-
lege was upgraded to become Alemaya University of Agriculture. Today, 
Alemaya University is a household name in Ethiopia. The USAID mission in 
Addis Ababa recently awarded a $10 million contract to Virginia Tech, Cor-
nell University, Virginia State and ACDI–VOCA (an NGO) to strengthen re-
search and extension in the Amhara administrative region.

• Brazil: In 1963, the government made a political decision to build a human 
capital base for a modern agriculture. With USAID financing, four American 
land-grant universities spent a decade assisting four Brazilian universities in 
strengthening B.Sc.-level training in Brazil, followed by another four years of 
support for postgraduate education (Sanders, et al 1989). In 1972, the govern-
ment established EMBRAPA (Brazilian National Agricultural Research Cor-
poration) to coordinate its national research program. EMBRAPA launched a 
massive human capital program and spent 20 percent of its total budget from 
1974 to 1982 on training programs in Brazil and abroad. In fact, in the late 
1970s and 1980s, EMBRAPA had an average of more than 300 researchers 
enrolled each year in postgraduate training programs. Today, one-third of 
EMBRAPA scientists have a Ph.D. degree, half have an M.Sc. degree, and the 
balance has a B.Sc. (Beinetma, et al, 1998).

This major effort has been the basis for substantial improvements in developing 
countries capacities and their development. Without these individuals and their in-
stitutions, development certainly would be impaired. 

U.S. SUPPORT FOR AFRICAN AGRICULTURAL DEVELOPMENT LAGS OVERALL. 

The trends in agricultural funding at USAID have not been encouraging. The 
long-term trends show agriculture not keeping pace with other funding objectives 
and certainly not consistent with the problems of African food production. When Af-
rican countries are allowed to design their portfolios with the Millennium Challenge 
Corporation (MCC) they choose agriculture. But that funding is not enough to tackle 
the problem nor is much designated for human or institutional capacity building nor 
research. In USAID research and higher education will be increasingly marginalized 
with the new organizational structure that proposes to reduce the Development As-
sistance Account moving funds to the Economic Support Funds. As you know, the 
DA account funds much of the central bureaus’ activity that supports most of our 
few remaining university projects under Title XII (Famine Prevention And Freedom 
From Hunger Improvement Act of 2000). These research and human capacity build-
ing programs (such as the Collaborative Research Support Programs, the CRSPs) 
are slated for 30 percent cuts next year. The other major agricultural research pro-
gram, the Consultative Group on International Agricultural Research (CGIAR), has 
lost ground as well. From a high of $46 million in 1986 funding has declined to$25 
million in 2006. Long-term degree training, once the pride of USAID’s development 
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portfolio has declined by 95 percent. At one point in the 1960s U.S. land-Grant insti-
tutions had more than 70 partnership programs with developing country institu-
tions of higher education. 

The distinct role of agriculture in the development of Africa is both recognized 
and heavily supported by African institutions and political leadership. In July 2003, 
following the endorsement of the Comprehensive African Agriculture Development 
Programme developed by the New Partnership for Africa’s Development (NEPAD), 
African heads of state pledged to allocate 10 percent of national budgetary resources 
to the Programme’s implementation based on conclusions that ‘‘agriculture led de-
velopment is fundamental to cutting hunger, reducing poverty . . . agriculture must 
be the engine for overall economic growth in Africa.’’ 20 Indeed, the role of agri-
culture in development programs is regaining popularity, as evidenced by the inclu-
sion of agricultural development initiatives in the Millennium Development Goals, 
poverty reduction strategy papers, and its emphasis in the Rome Declaration on 
World Food Security.21 

However, despite the apparent resurrection of agriculture as a catalyst for overall 
economic growth and poverty reduction, recent trends in bilateral aid contradict pol-
icy gains and concessions aimed at agricultural investment and development. Ac-
cording to an extensive analysis by Taylor and Howard 22 overall U.S. support for 
agricultural development in Africa has not increased significantly since 2000, de-
spite efforts by USAID to focus more available development resources on agri-
culture-related projects. While USAID support for agriculture-related programming 
actually increased by 9 percent (adjusted for inflation), the increase was offset by 
absolute declines in funding through other channels. Indeed, even within the USAID 
Bureau of Africa channel, the largest channel for agricultural development assist-
ance in the Agency, ‘‘the amount of funds available for that purpose [agricultural 
development] grew by only 7% from FY2000 to FY2004, from $284 million to $304 
million, which means a 3% decrease in real terms after adjusting for inflation.’’ In-
creases in another source of USAID funding for agricultural development within the 
Initiative to End Hunger in Africa (IEHA), came from the reallocation of funds from 
within the Africa DA account, rather than from any real increase. 

Taylor and Howard further characterize the discrepancy between USAID objec-
tives and aid:

Most of USAID’s gains occurred in one year (from FY2002 to FY2003), and 
there was an absolute decline in estimated funding for African agriculture by 
USAID and the U.S. government as a whole in 2004. A central constraint for 
USAID is that although it has placed agriculture at the center of its economic 
development strategy for Africa, the level of appropriated money available to sup-
port such development declined in real terms between 2000 and 2004 (Taylor 
and Howard, 2005).

STATEMENT OF CALESTOUS JUMA, PH.D., PROFESSOR, 
HARVARD UNIVERSITY 

Mr. PAYNE. Thank you very much. Dr. Juma. 
Mr. JUMA. Thank you, Mr. Chairman, Ranking Member, and 

members of the committee. I am very pleased to have this oppor-
tunity to be here to share with you some of the thinking that is 
taking place in Africa at the moment. In the last couple of years 
I have had the privilege of working very close with African Union, 
but also with individual African Presidents, and so I thought 
maybe the best way to share this experience is to summarize them 
with a focus on a very few critical areas that I think are important. 

First, the African countries are currently redefining fundamen-
tally their economic policies to place science and technology at the 
center of the development process. This is reflected both in the de-
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cisions of the African Union, but also in the actions of individual 
Presidents across the continent. This transformation of the eco-
nomic policies is shaping the way these countries are choosing their 
friends and allies. 

I can give some examples of that later on. What is particularly 
interesting in this transformation is the recognition of institutions 
of higher learning, particularly universities, as being central to the 
process of economic development. 

One of the key obstacles that these countries are facing at the 
moment is the fact that the model of higher education that prevails 
across the continent has separated research, training and extension 
in the different institutions, and as a consequence they are in fact 
not in a position to do or say for agriculture what this country has 
done using the land grant model. 

What is also interesting is seeing them experiment with similar 
approaches in countries like Rwanda that have essentially invented 
new universities that look like the United States land grant insti-
tutions. What is reassuring for us is the recognition that the 
United States in fact has previously worked with other countries, 
particularly Costa Rica, and I am thinking of EARTH University 
as an example where I serve on the board, where USAID working 
with Kellogg Foundation in fact helped to adapt the land grant 
model to the Costa Rican conditions. 

I think it would be very helpful to see the United States engage 
with Africa using that same kind of approach. I would like to pro-
pose at least four areas where I think this cooperation could be ad-
vanced. The first is in the area of regional cooperation. Most Afri-
can countries are starting to work closely together in groups of 
countries, and this is going to be the model for the future. 

I think that if the United States continues to work only with in-
dividual countries it could render itself irrelevant to the emerging 
trends of regional partnership among African countries. Secondly, 
there are significant efforts within government to reorganize the 
structure of cabinets, for example, so that they can reflect the im-
portance of innovation in developments. 

Again, this is an area that I think could offer new opportunities 
for partnership between the United States and African countries. 
Entirely the area of realigning the missions and the structures of 
university to reflect community development essentially to bring 
institutions of higher learning to serve community needs which is 
essentially the perimatic role of the land grant model applied both 
in agriculture but also in other sectors like industry and environ-
mental conservation. 

Finally, areas of partnership on specific technology missions. I 
have in mind, for example, the area of power technology in which 
this country is a leader, that this could represent a new oppor-
tunity for strong partnerships between the United States and the 
African countries. Just in closing I think most of us are aware of 
the growing interest and the strengthening of relations between Af-
rica and the Chinese Government, Africa and China. 

It is remarkable to note the differences in the character of co-
operation between Africa and China. Last year there were 2,000 
African students in Chinese universities, mostly in the sciences and 
the engineering fields. China plans to double this number, this an-
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nual intake, to 4,000 students a year by 2009. I think this change 
to me represents in fact the fact that Africa is starting to pick its 
allies based on their ability to contribute to the continent’s interest 
in placing science and technology at the center of the development 
process. 

I hope that we can have some serious discussions around this 
really if you like transformative policies among African countries 
on the way they deal with economic growth. Thank you very much, 
Mr. Chairman and the committee, for giving me an opportunity to 
share these experiences with you. 

[The prepared statement of Mr. Juma follows:]

PREPARED STATEMENT OF CALESTOUS JUMA, PH.D., PROFESSOR, HARVARD 
UNIVERSITY 

SUMMARY 

This year marks the 300th anniversary of the birth of Carl Linnaeus, renowned 
as the father of taxonomy. Less known are his lifelong efforts to find permanent so-
lutions to the persistent famines in Sweden. Linnaeus drew attention to the eco-
nomic value of living things: ‘‘each country produces something especially useful.’’ 
He argued, however, for the importance of reason and scientific knowledge for sus-
tainable economies. Three hundred years later, Sweden is among the wealthiest na-
tions on Earth and famines are the subject only of history lessons. 

Efforts to promote food security in sub-Saharan Africa must remember the lessons 
of Sweden: (a) ‘‘food security’’ is inseparable from economic development. Rich coun-
tries do not starve; (b) science and innovation are a necessary part of economic de-
velopment and so of ‘‘food security’’; and (c) universities in most countries are en-
gines of development and must be so in Africa as well. International cooperation is 
critical for promoting the adoption of new agricultural technologies such as bio-
technology. It is especially regrettable, then, that international agricultural assist-
ance to Africa has been reduced in recent years. This disengagement in turn has 
weakened cooperation between the US and Africa on strategic economic issues. 

African heads of state and the African Union are currently working toward agri-
cultural improvement in particular and economic development in general. Both the 
tone of policy discussions and the evident results (6% per year growth for the last 
five years, resulting in a doubling of GDP in sub-Saharan Africa) are cause for opti-
mism. Africa’s newfound dynamism offers the opportunity for the US to cooperate 
in economic initiatives and help bring Africa into the global knowledge economy. Co-
operation in agricultural development is one obvious starting point. 

Cooperation with the US could involve four key areas. First, special attention 
needs to be placed on promoting regional integration among Africa states so they 
can diversify their economic activities beyond local markets. Although increasing 
food production throughout sub-Saharan Africa is obviously important, lack of re-
gional integration is what makes crop failures so deadly in Africa: although food is 
produced elsewhere, bad roads mean that transported food is unaffordable, inad-
equate, spoiled or simply unavailable. 

Second is building skills on how to govern the economy. Many African countries 
are reorganizing their state structures to make them more entrepreneurial so that 
government can be responsive to the needs of the people and act as a champion of 
innovation. The US could help strengthen the capacity of African states to build nec-
essary infrastructure, to train future generations of leaders, businesspeople, and sci-
entists, and to generate and use science and innovation advice for economic develop-
ment. 

A third key area of cooperation is reforming existing African universities and sup-
porting the creation of new models of higher education. The US has a long history 
of sharing its experiences in using universities as engines of regional and commu-
nity development. For example, it supported a pioneering adaptation of the land-
grant model in Costa Rica by helping to create EARTH University in Costa Rica, 
the first dedicated sustainable development university in the world. The US can 
help African universities by (a) revamping university infrastructure and missions, 
especially by providing affordable access to information and telecommunications; (b) 
reforming curricula to make them more applied and relevant to local needs; (c) mak-
ing teaching more experiential and promoting exchanges of teachers, students, and 
researchers; (d) helping universities adopt appropriate management practices in-
cluding university autonomy. 
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Finally, the US and Africa should to forge long-term cooperation in advancing spe-
cific technology missions. Prime candidate is the application of biological innovations 
in areas such as agriculture, health, industry and environment. These efforts should 
be supported by additional funding that is devoted to promoting agricultural science 
and innovation cooperation. 

INTRODUCTION 1 

It is often stated that sub-Saharan Africa continues to suffer from food insecurity 
because it was bypassed by the ‘‘Green Revolution.’’ 2 It is concluded from such 
statements that an African Green Revolution is needed to help enhance Africa’s food 
security. While some elements of the Green Revolution are essential for addressing 
Africa’s agricultural challenges, food security is not a function of agricultural pro-
duction alone.3 ‘‘Food security’’ is a term that covers critical attributes of food such 
as sufficiency, reliability, quality, safety, timeliness and other aspects of food nec-
essary for healthy and thriving populations. It is therefore intricately linked to eco-
nomic health.4 

This testimony outlines the critical linkages between food security, agricultural 
development and economic growth and explains why Africa has lagged behind the 
agriculture of other countries. It argues that improving Africa’s agricultural per-
formance will require deliberate policy efforts to improve higher technical education, 
especially in universities, and bring it to the service of agriculture and the economy. 
It concludes by providing a set of options for strengthening agricultural cooperation 
between the US and Africa. 

1. FOOD SECURITY, AGRICULTURE AND ECONOMY 

Food security in Africa has worsened since the early 1970s. Food availability has 
failed to keep up with the growing population, as reflected in the rise of the absolute 
number of undernourished people. Between 1990–92 and 2001–03, the number of 
undernourished people in Africa rose from 169 million to 206 million. Of the 39 
countries for which data were available, only 15 reported reductions in the number 
of undernourished people.5 The situation is projected to worsen if current policies 
continue. These trends could be reversed through a variety of measures addressing 
rural development in general and agriculture in particular.6 

Agriculture is central to African economies, making up 30–50% of national in-
come, employing nearly 60% of the population and generating about 40% of its for-
eign exchange earnings. But policymakers often treat agriculture as a separate sec-
tor with little regard to its relationship with the rest of the economy.7 A more real-
istic view is to treat economies as integrated ‘‘systems of innovation’’ where new ac-
tors and institutions constantly are being created, changed, and adapted to suit the 
dynamics of scientific and technological creation. Government, the private sector, in-
stitutions of higher learning such as universities, and civil society organizations are 
important parts of a larger system of knowledge and interactions that allows diverse 
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actors to come together to pursue broad common goals, including agricultural inno-
vation. 

In many African countries, the state still plays a key role in undertaking produc-
tive activities. But the private sector is increasingly becoming an important player 
in adapting existing knowledge and applying it to new areas. This in turn is chang-
ing the role of the government, making it largely a facilitator of economic change. 
Democratic change and elections have helped to bring to power new leaders who are 
pressing for improvements in public sector performance. They are often at odds with 
their own bureaucracies that are still steeped in old practices. 

Africa’s food security can only be guaranteed through long-term economic growth, 
not by emergency interventions alone. This shift in policy will entail placing empha-
sis on renewing infrastructure, building human capabilities, stimulating business 
development, and increasing participation in the global economy through export of 
manufactured goods. These areas that constitute what can be called ‘‘the learning 
economy’’ should be the foundation upon which to base international development 
partnerships. 

This view is already informing the reformulation of Africa’s foreign policy. African 
countries are increasingly paying attention to the role of science and innovation in 
diplomatic interactions and are already starting to assign technology-related tasks 
to their key missions to countries such as the US and Japan. Others are revising 
their foreign policies to make economic cooperation a centerpiece of their diplomatic 
interactions. Part of Africa’s growing cooperation with China, for example, is influ-
enced by the higher technical education opportunities granted to African students. 
In 2006 China admitted nearly 2,000 African students, mostly in science and engi-
neering. The number of African students admitted to Chinese university will double 
by 2009 and the long-term diplomatic benefits of such arrangements are immeas-
urable. 

This approach is justified by the historical evidence from other developing coun-
tries. The main explanation for the success of the industrialized countries was their 
ability to learn how to improve performance in a diversity of social, economic and 
political fields: their focus on practical knowledge and the associated improvements 
in skills needed to solve problems. At least three key factors contributed to their 
rapid economic transformation. First, governments invested significantly in basic in-
frastructure and more efficiently providing infrastructure services.8 Secondly, they 
created and nurtured the development of small and medium-sized enterprises 
(SMEs) through a network of incentives and support systems.9 And thirdly, govern-
ments supported, funded and promoted institutions of higher technical learning, as 
well as academies of engineering and technological sciences, professional engineer-
ing and technological associations, and industrial and trade associations.10 These 
are discussed below. Africa’s economic growth will likely follow the same path. 
Basic infrastructure 

Infrastructure is defined as the facilities, structures and associated equipment 
and services that facilitate the flow of goods and services among individuals, firms 
and governments. Conventional infrastructure includes: public utilities, such as 
power, telecommunications, water supply, sanitation and sewerage, and waste dis-
posal; public works, such as irrigation systems, schools, housing and hospitals; the 
transport sectors such as roads, railways, ports, waterways and airports; and re-
search facilities, such as laboratories and related equipment. 

Poor infrastructure in Africa is a critical barrier to economic growth and improve-
ment of human welfare in general and agricultural improvement in particular.11 In 
Uganda, for example, transport costs add the equivalent of an 80% tax on clothing 
exports. Transport costs directly contribute to food crises by hindering the shipment 
of food between regions. Infrastructure is also critical in investment decisions. 
Farmers will not plant crops if there is no way to get them to market. Agri-
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businesses will not invest if there is no cost-effective way to transport produce to 
markets. More broadly, infrastructure is essential for the delivery of health and edu-
cation services, creation of employment and dissemination of knowledge. 

Telecommunications infrastructure is an area of particular concern for Africa. In-
vestments in basic telecommunications infrastructure have allowed the rapid diffu-
sion of information technology in recent years: for example, rates of cellular tele-
phone and Internet usage are exploding among people of all income levels. Elec-
tronic information systems, which rely on this infrastructure, now account for a sub-
stantial proportion of production and distribution activities in the secondary and 
tertiary sectors of the economy. But investment could be still larger, and high tele-
communications costs are at present a substantial drag on economic growth. High 
costs have also hindered education, training, and the use of advances in fields such 
as geographical information sciences in sustainable development. 

One of the main challenges in African higher education is the isolation of cam-
puses and training facilities. University textbooks are often decades out of date and 
students have little access to more recent information: road travel is difficult and 
slow, air travel expensive; and Internet connections are prohibitively expensive. It 
is not possible to spread information about available agricultural practices when it 
can cost a day’s wages for an African student to log on at an Internet café to 
download a paper or brochure. Most students have no Internet access at all through 
their universities. African universities of the size of the University of California 
Berkeley or the University of Texas at Austin have the Internet capability of a sin-
gle US household.12 They do not buy more capacity because even this limited con-
nection can cost up to $15,000 per month.13 A digitally-isolated Africa cannot effec-
tively educate its students or provide adequate post-graduate training. 

In much of Africa, communications prices are far higher than the cost of infra-
structure warrants. Africa (other than South Africa) is currently linked to the devel-
oped world by a single fiber-optic cable down the West Africa coast. It is the most 
digitally-isolated region on the globe. Even so, that single cable is still underutilized. 
That cable is operated as a monopoly, and the owners (a consortium of Africa and 
foreign, including US companies) have set bandwidth prices so high that most users 
connect via satellite instead. Bandwidth in much of Africa is sold for prices 40–100 
times higher than in the US although operating expenses are not significantly dif-
ferent. Monopoly firms have adopted a ‘‘high cost, low volume’’ business strategy. 
The vast majority of potential Internet usage is cut off and usage is restricted to 
those who can afford stratospheric rates. Paradoxically, this makes free information 
a very expensive resource. The curbing of the monopolies in Africa is a necessary 
step in its economic development. 

Energy is another area that stalls Africa’s agricultural development and economic 
growth. The continent has abundant new and renewable energy resources—hydro-
power, geothermal, biomass, solar, and in some countries, wind potential. Africa ac-
counts for only about 5% of world primary energy demand and this is unevenly dis-
tributed. Only about 36% of the population has access to electricity and most of this 
is in urban areas. Nearly 80% of the continent’s rural population has no access to 
electricity. The majority of these people rely on traditional biomass such as wood 
and agricultural residues as their main energy source with far-reaching ecological 
implications. 

Much of the discussion about Africa’s energy situation focuses on trends in supply 
and demand and their environmental implications. What is often ignored is the im-
portance of technological innovation associated with energy use which can be a 
springboard for technology used to tackle wider conservation challenges. Discussions 
should be placed in the context of using technological innovation to boost the transi-
tion to sustainability. 

Geothermal energy is a good example. Using existing technology, Eastern Africa 
(Djibouti, Eritrea, Ethiopia, Kenya, Tanzania, Uganda, and Zambia) has the poten-
tial to generate over 2,500 MW of electricity from geothermal energy (out of the cur-
rent global output of 8,100 MW). Geothermal energy production involves building 
capacity in a wide range of fields including ecology, chemistry, geology, engineering 
and electronics. The expertise needed is similar to that needed for natural resource 
management. Building geothermal energy capacity can therefore go hand in hand 
with efforts to meet longer term sustainable development as well as sustainable en-
ergy targets. Many have invoked the need for a Marshall Plan for Africa. An even 
more appropriate metaphor is President Franklin D. Roosevelt’s New Deal that fo-
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cused on providing low-cost infrastructure services. African universities need a tele-
communications New Deal now just like farmers need one on low-cost energy and 
roads. 
Small and medium-sized enterprises 

The development of small and medium-sized enterprises (SMEs) has been an inte-
gral part of the development of all industrialized economies. This holds true in Afri-
ca. Building these enterprises requires development of pools of capital for invest-
ment, of local operational, repair and maintenance expertise, and of a regulatory en-
vironment that allows small business to flourish. Africa must review its incentive 
structures to promote these objectives, and the international community must pro-
mote investment in African businesses.14 

A range of policy measures are needed to create and sustain enterprises—from 
taxation regimes and market-based instruments to consumption policies and 
changes in the national system of innovation. Policy-makers also need to ensure 
that educational systems provide adequate technical training. They need to support 
agribusiness and technology incubators, export processing zones and production net-
works as well as sharpening the associated skills through agribusiness education. 
The US can help in all these avenues. 

Banks and financial institutions also play key roles in fostering technological in-
novation and supporting investment in homegrown domestic businesses. Unfortu-
nately, their record in promoting technological innovation in Africa has been poor. 
Capital markets have played a critical role in creating SMEs in other developed 
countries. Venture capitalists not only bring money to the table, they also help 
groom small and medium-sized start-ups into successful enterprises. Venture capital 
in Africa, however, barely exists outside of South Africa and needs to be introduced 
and nurtured. 
Institutions of higher technical learning 

Industrialized countries have supported, funded and promoted institutions of 
higher technical learning, as well as academies of engineering and technology, pro-
fessional engineering and technological associations, and industrial and trade asso-
ciations. Higher technical education is increasingly (and belatedly) being recognized 
as critical for development.15 While primary education has been the focus of the 
donor community for decades, secondary and higher education and research are now 
beginning to gain policy attention. 

Primary education is not unimportant: economic and educational data suggest 
near-universal primary education is necessary for economic development, it is not 
sufficient: countries with high primary enrollments can still be quite poor. National 
per capita income is instead remarkably well correlated with enrollment rates in 
higher education. Africa has both the lowest income and the lowest mean university 
enrollment in the world. No rich country other than Switzerland has university en-
rollment below 50%. Mean enrollments in Africa are close to 5%. For Africa to ad-
vance, this must change. 

The urgency of investing in higher technical education is compounded by several 
factors. Increased primary and secondary enrollments have created a generation of 
students eager for university training but barred from it by the lack of facilities. 
The impact of HIV/AIDS and other infectious diseases has also struck hard at Afri-
ca’s university graduates, affecting Africa’s economic growth in general and agricul-
tural development in particular.16 

Finally expansion of women’s access to higher technical education is also impor-
tant, not only for equality and social justice but for the practical purpose of chang-
ing social attitudes and preparing the next generation to adapt to changing world 
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High school examinations, for example, are set to reflect the lack of laboratory facilities so there 
no incentives to spend more time in the laboratory. Similar disincentives prevail in universities. 

conditions.17 But if universities are already oversubscribed and overcrowded, adding 
more female students cannot happen without investment in building additional fa-
cilities. 

In the industrialized world, research and higher education are a valuable resource 
for business, industry, and society. Higher education and research institutions are 
integrated into the production sector and into society in many ways. They conduct 
research and development for industry; create their own spin-off firms; are involved 
in capital formation projects, such as technology parks and agribusiness incubator 
facilities; introduce entrepreneurial training; and encourage students to transform 
research into enterprises. African universities should follow suit and play their role. 

Most African countries already possess the key institutional components they 
need to become players in the knowledge economy. But the separation between gov-
ernment, industry and academia is a source of inertia and waste in Africa’s knowl-
edge-based institutions.18 Africa’s economic growth depends on bringing these to-
gether to increase the production of university graduates, give students training 
that meets the needs of the modern business world, and provide capital to help uni-
versity graduates generate businesses and jobs. 

2. LAGGING BEHIND 

Interest in Africa’s future is rising among donors and governments. This trend co-
incides with a new awakening of interest within international development agencies 
in the role of technological innovation in economic growth. But the two ideas have 
not been connected. Much of the discussion on Africa’s development focuses on im-
proving the lives of subsistence farmers. It only marginally addresses the need to 
harness the world’s existing fund of knowledge for long-term development. Any long-
term strategy for Africa must include assistance to its universities. 

To function effectively as engines of development, universities and other institu-
tions of higher learning in Africa must adapt and change, forging closer links with 
the private sector, training graduates for professional careers, and diffusing knowl-
edge into the economy. In other words, they will need to become ‘‘developmental uni-
versities,’’ working directly within the communities in which they are located The 
US, with its long tradition of entrepreneurial private universities and applied land-
grant ones, can help with this transformation. 
Hobbled talents 

The main role of the original generation of African universities was to create civil 
servants. Unfortunately, this classical model has become the template within which 
new universities are created, even though social and economic needs have changed 
radically. The continent needs a new generation of universities that can serve as 
engines of both community development and social renewal. 

The task ahead requires deliberate efforts by governments, academia, agri-
business and civil society to reorganize and redirect higher education and reorient 
it to serve all the African people. To achieve this, a qualitative change in the goals, 
functions and structure of the university is needed. As part of this process, funda-
mental reforms will be needed in curriculum design, teaching, location, selection of 
students and the management of universities. Laws governing higher education and 
universities will need to be overhauled and parliaments will need to play a bigger 
role in this regard. Courage and leadership will be essential because of the political 
nature of such reforms. 

Curriculum reform is needed to create an adaptive generation of professionals.19 
South Africa’s Stellenbosch University offers a shining example of how to adjust cur-
ricula to the needs of research and development (R&D) organizations. It was the 
first university in the world to design and launch an advanced micro-satellite as 
part of its training. The aim for the program was to build competence in new tech-
nologies in the fields of remote sensing, spacecraft control and earth sciences and 
to offer other services such as mailbox, speech and data relay experiments to the 
community. In Uganda, Makerere University has developed new teaching ap-
proaches that allow students to solve public health problems in their communities 
as part of their training. Similar approaches should be adopted by students in other 
technical fields such as infrastructure development and maintenance. 
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Many of these examples are the result of isolated initiatives. The challenge is to 
move away from relying on luck and tenacity, and to create an environment that 
helps to realize the developmental role of universities. This must start with govern-
ment policy. Little will happen unless governments realize the strategic role that 
universities can play in harnessing the world’s fund of scientific and technological 
knowledge for development. It also, however, requires an infusion of funds and 
knowledge. International donor agencies in past years have supported the trend of 
cutting funding for African universities. Though this misguided attitude is changing, 
most of them are still reluctant to support alternative university models and they 
support is helping to entrench outmoded practices. They are doing Africa and them-
selves a disservice. 

Slashed budgets 
International donors started to cut back on international agricultural assistance 

in the 1980s. In 1980 the US was a leading international advocate for agricultural 
development assistance, with nearly 25% of official development assistance (ODA) 
going to this sector. A decade later the share had fallen to about six per cent of the 
total. By 2003 it stood at one per cent. Although this drop occurred at a time when 
overall US foreign assistance was rising in constant dollar terms, the net effect is 
still a dramatic decrease: between 1980 and 2003 total bilateral ODA increased by 
69%, but agricultural aid dropped by 98%. 

The cutting of agricultural development assistance in the US Agency for Inter-
national Development (USAID) has been so thorough that the term ‘‘agriculture’’ is 
hardly used. The agency still has an agriculture office, but its total budget had 
dropped to just $27 million. The total US development assistance to agriculture 
from all USAID offices now stands at a mere $169 million, or 1% of the total ODA. 
This has significantly undercut the capacity of the US to be a serious diplomatic 
player in Africa where agriculture still remains a core economic activity. 

Africa has lagged behind other regions of the world in agricultural development 
for two main reasons. First, its institutions of higher learning hardly played their 
role as promoters of agricultural innovation. They focused on producing func-
tionaries for the civil service. Second, reductions in foreign agricultural assistance 
undermined the local research efforts as well as international university partner-
ship. The challenge now is to forge a new partnership between the US and Africa 
that will bring new financial resources to enable US universities to team up with 
their African counterparts. 

3. BUILDING CAPABILITIES FOR INNOVATION 

The role of universities as vehicles of community development is exemplified by 
the US land-grant system, which led to the founding of 106 universities, including 
Colorado State, Rutgers, Texas A&M, and the entire University of California sys-
tem.20 The system not only played a key role in transforming rural America, but 
also offered the world a new model for bringing knowledge to support development. 
While the model largely is associated with agriculture, its adaptation to industry 
also occurred. Universities such as the Massachusetts Institute of Technology (MIT) 
and parts of Stanford University owe their heritage to the land grant system.21 

The drift of the land grant model into other sectors is not limited to the US. Their 
central mission of bringing higher education to stimulate community development 
is practiced around the world in a variety of forms. African countries must look criti-
cally at these variants and adapt them to their conditions. These institutional adap-
tations are often faced with opposition from advocates of incumbent university mod-
els. Arguments against the model tend to focus on the claim that universities that 
devote their time to practical work are not academic enough. As a result a hierarchy 
exists that places such institutions either off or at the lower end of the academic 
ladder. 

The US has played a key role in promoting agricultural development around the 
world. Its role in championing the Green Revolution is well-known. Less known, but 
probably more important for Africa, is its support to countries seeking to adapt the 
land-grant model to local conditions so that higher education can help to contribute 
to human welfare. The case of EARTH University in Costa Rica illustrates the im-
portance of focusing on institutional innovation as a way to bring higher technical 
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education to bear on economic development in general and agriculture in par-
ticular.22 Similar institutions or curricula could be introduced in Africa. 

Supporting innovation in university education 
EARTH University emerged in a context that mirrors today’s Africa: economic 

stagnation, high unemployment, ecological decay, armed conflict. Inspired by the 
need for new attitudes and paradigms, EARTH University was created in 1990 as 
a non-profit, private, international university dedicated to sustainable agricultural 
education in the tropics. It was launched as a joint effort between the private and 
public sectors in the US and Costa Rica. The WK Kellogg Foundation provided the 
original grant for a feasibility study at the request by a group of Costa Rican vision-
aries. 

Based on the study, USAID provided the initial funding for the institution. The 
original mission of the university was to train leaders with ethical values to con-
tribute to the sustainable development of the humid tropics and to build a pros-
perous and just society. Through its academic, research and outreach programs, the 
university offers innovative solutions for improving the quality of life of the inhab-
itants of the humid tropics. 

Located in the Atlantic lowlands of Costa Rica, EARTH University admits about 
110 students a year and has a total student population of about 400 from 24 coun-
tries (mainly in Latin America and the Caribbean) and faculty from 22 countries. 
Through its endowment, the university provides all students with 50% of the cost 
of tuition, room and board. In addition, the university provides scholarships to 
promising young people of limited resources from remote and marginalized regions. 
Nearly 80% of the students receive full or partial scholarship support. All students 
live on campus for four intensive years. 

EARTH University has developed an innovative, learner-centered and experiential 
academic program. Its educational process stresses the development of attitudes 
necessary for graduates to become effective agents of change. They learn to lead, 
identify with the community, care for the environment and be entrepreneurial. They 
are committed to life-long learning. There are four activities in particular within the 
curriculum that embodies EARTH University’s experiential approach to learning. 

Learning from work experience and community service 
The first is the Work Experience activity, which is taken by all first, second, and 

third year students and continues in the fourth year as the Professional Experience 
course. In the first and second years, students work in crop, animal and forestry 
production modules on EARTH University’s 3,300-hectare farm. In the first year, 
the work is largely a routine activity and the experience centers on the acquisition 
of basic skills, work habits and general knowledge and familiarity with production. 
In the second year, the focus changes to management strategies for these same ac-
tivities. 

Work Experience is later replaced with Professional Experience. In this course 
students identify work sites or activities on campus, which correspond with their ca-
reer goals. The student is responsible for contacting the supervisors of the campus 
operations, requesting an interview, and soliciting ‘‘employment.’’ Upon agreement, 
they develop a joint work plan which the student implements, dedicating a min-
imum of ten hours per week to the ‘‘job.’’

The second activity is an extension of the Work Experience course. Here third-
year students work on an individual basis with small, local producers on their 
farms. They also come together in small groups under the Community Outreach pro-
gram that is integral to the learning system. Community outreach is used to develop 
critical professional skills in students, while at the same time helping to improve 
the quality of life in nearby rural communities. 

The third year internship program exemplifies the emphasis on experiential 
learning. The 15-week internship is required for all students in the third trimester 
of their third year of study. It is an opportunity for them to put into practice all 
they have learned during their first three years of study. For many of them it is 
also a chance to make connections that may lead to employment after graduation. 
The international character of the institution allows many students the opportunity 
to follow their interests, even when they lead to internship destinations other than 
in their home country. 
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Sharpening entrepreneurial skills 
The fourth activity is the Entrepreneurial Projects Program. EARTH University’s 

program promotes the participation of its graduates in the private sector as a crit-
ical means by which the institution can achieve its mission of contributing to the 
sustainable development of the tropics. The development of SMEs is a powerful way 
to create new employment and improve income distribution in rural communities. 
For this reason, the university stresses the development of an entrepreneurial spirit 
and skills. Courses in business administration and economics combined with prac-
tical experience prepare the students to engage in business ventures upon gradua-
tion. 

This course provides students the opportunity to develop a business venture from 
beginning to end during their first three years at EARTH University. Small groups 
of 4–6 students from different countries decide on a relevant business activity. They 
conduct feasibility studies (including financial, social and environmental criteria), 
borrow money from the university and implement the venture. This includes mar-
keting and selling the final product. After repaying their loan, with interest, the 
group shares the profits. 

This entrepreneurial focus has permeated all aspects of the university’s operations 
and prepared students to become job creators and agents of change rather than job 
seekers. About 17% of its 1,100 graduates run their own businesses. The university 
manages its own profitable agribusiness, which has resulted in strong relationships 
with the private sector. 

When the university acquired its campus, it decided to continue operating the 
commercial banana farm located on the property. Upon taking over the farm, the 
university implemented a series of measures designed to promote more environ-
mentally-sound and socially-responsible production approaches. 

Going global 
EARTH University has internationalized its operations. It signed an agreement 

with US-based Whole Foods Market as the sole distributor of bananas in their 
stores. The university sells nearly 600,000 boxes of bananas a year to Whole Foods 
Market, as well as mangoes and (through an alliance with a small farmers’ coopera-
tive) pineapples. This helps to generate new income for the university and for small 
farmers while providing an invaluable educational opportunity for the students and 
faculty. In addition to internships, students have access to Whole Foods Market’s 
venture capital upon graduation. The university uses part of the income to fund sus-
tainable and organic banana and pineapple production research. 

The university has US supporters who raise additional funds through a private 
foundation. In June 2004 the family of the former Costa Rican President Daniel 
Oduber donated the La Flor farm to the university to be used to develop techniques 
to improve the quality of life in the Guanacaste area and the dry tropics of Latin 
America. EARTH University hopes to achieve its mission at La Flor by establishing 
world-class research and training that promotes entrepreneurship and contributes 
to the sustainable development of the tropics. As part of this effort, La Flor will host 
a Technological Center, a Green Conference Center, an Exhibition Center and a 
housing complex with the aim of contributing directly to the economic trans-
formation of the region and Costa Rica. 

Over the years the university has worked closely with African institutions and 
leaders to share its experiences. Following nearly seven years of study through 
workshops, discussions, training courses and site visits African participants agreed 
to the importance of reforms in their own university systems, especially through the 
creation of new universities along the lines of the EARTH model. This was under-
taken through a series of workshops on Sustainability, Education and the Manage-
ment of Change in the Tropics (SEMICT) funded by the WK Kellogg Foundation and 
the Norwegian Agency for Development Cooperation (NORAD). The lessons learned 
during the process provide fertile ground upon which new institutional ideas could 
grow. 

The case of EARTH University is one of many examples around the world involv-
ing major collaborative efforts between the US and developing countries to bring sci-
entific and technical knowledge to improve welfare through institutional innova-
tions. Such experiences, and those of US land-grant universities, offer a rich fund 
of knowledge than should be harnessed for Africa’s agricultural development and 
economic growth. 
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4. FORGING AHEAD 

Facilitating regional economic integration 
African countries have adopted numerous regional cooperation and integration ar-

rangements, many of which are purely ornamental. The continent has more than 
20 regional agreements that seek to promote cooperation and economic integration 
at sub-regional and continental levels. Of these, the African Union (AU) formally 
recognizes eight Regional Economic Communities (RECs).23 These RECs represent 
a new economic governance system for Africa and should be strengthened. 

While it is prudent for Africa to emphasize international trade, doing so requires 
greater investment in developing capabilities to trade, including technological inno-
vation, development of business and human resources, and institutional strength-
ening. Regional integration is a better initial approach. Regional integration offers 
larger markets (which also stimulate technological innovation), economies of scale, 
and the diffusion of technical skills arising from infrastructure development.24 

Another argument for African regional integration is the importance of engineer-
ing in sustainable development. Individual African economies are small and poorly 
endowed with the human, physical, and financial resources necessary to develop and 
harness engineering capabilities. The cost of building science and technology infra-
structure often appears to be an overwhelming task for national economies, espe-
cially in smaller and poorer states. Pooled on a regional scale, however, resources 
and expertise may be sufficient. 

Cooperation in engineering can take various forms, including joint projects, infor-
mation sharing, conferences, building and sharing joint laboratories, setting common 
standards for research and development, and exchange of expertise. Furthermore, 
the sheer magnitude of the necessary infrastructure development actually requires 
regional cooperation in project design and implementation to not only reduce costs 
but also facilitate greater learning. 

Some African countries, such as South Africa, are already endowed with robust 
science and technology infrastructure, which could easily be utilized by less well-
equipped countries. New regional initiatives will need to emphasize the use of 
science and innovation in their sustainable development strategies. 

The Common Market for Eastern and Southern Africa (COMESA) illustrates the 
importance of regional integration in Africa’s economic development and food secu-
rity. The 19-member free trade area was launched in 2000 and accounts for nearly 
half of Africa’s population. It has a combined GDP of $200 billion and is the largest 
and most vibrant free trade area in Africa. COMESA aims to improve economic inte-
gration and business growth by standardizing customs procedures, reducing tariffs, 
encouraging investments and improving infrastructure. COMESA will launch its 
Customs Union on December 31, 2008 and has initiated work on a Common Invest-
ment Area to facilitate cross-border and foreign direct investment.25 

The strength of the RECs lies in their diversity. Their objectives range from co-
operation among neighboring states in narrow political and economic areas to the 
ambitious creation of political federations. They focus on improving efficiency, ex-
panding the regional market, bolstering security and supporting the continent’s in-
tegration into the global economy. Many of them are motivated by factors such as 
the small-size of the national economy, a landlocked position, or poor infrastructure. 
Those working on security, for example, can learn from the experiences of the Eco-
nomic Community of West African States (ECOWAS), for example, a REC working 
on security, has considerable expertise on dealing with crises in countries such as 
Ivory Coast, Liberia and Sierra Leone. Nigeria has played a key role in providing 
regional leadership on this. Other RECs have more ambitions plans. The East Afri-
can Community (EAC), for example, has developed a roadmap that includes the 
election of a federal president. Such institutions, though nascent, represent major 
innovations in Africa’s economic and political governance and deserve the fullest 
support of the US. 
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Improving economic governance 
Although Africa’s economies are currently growing strongly, continuing these 

trends will require adjustments in the structure and functions of government to 
make them more entrepreneurial.26 More fundamentally, science and innovation 
must be integrated at the highest possible levels in government. This change will 
be facilitated by creating science and innovation into policy analysis capacity in uni-
versities, scientific academies and government departments. Which in turn may 
have political benefits: good governance and good engineering are not so different, 
after all. Both involve working to achieve objectives guided by care, diligence, and 
data. 

Bringing science and innovation to the center of Africa’s economic renewal will re-
quire more than just political commitment; it will take executive leadership. This 
challenge requires concept champions. In this case these will be heads of state that 
will spearhead the task of shaping their economic policies around science and inno-
vation. 

So far, most African countries have failed to develop national policies that dem-
onstrate a sense of focus to help channel emerging technologies into solving develop-
mental problems. They still rely on generic strategies dealing with ‘‘poverty allevi-
ation,’’ without serious consideration of the sources of economic growth. There are 
signs of hope, however. 

Political leaders must be kept informed about the role of science and innovation 
in development. Advice on science and innovation must be included routinely in pol-
icy-making.27 An appropriate institutional framework must be created in order for 
this to happen. Many African cabinet structures are merely a continuation of the 
colonial model, structured to facilitate the control of local populations rather than 
to promote economic transformation. 

Advisory structures differ across countries. In many countries, science advisers re-
port to the president or prime minister, and national scientific and engineering 
academies provide political leaders with advice. Whatever structure is adopted, the 
advising function should have some statutory, legislative mandate to advise the 
highest levels of government. It should have its own operating budget and a budget 
for funding policy research. The adviser should have access to good and credible sci-
entific or technical information from the government, national academies and inter-
national networks. The advisory processes should be accountable to the public and 
be able to gauge public opinion about science and innovation. 

Successful implementation of science and innovation policy requires civil servants 
with the capacity for policy analysis-capacity that most current civil servants lack. 
Providing civil servants with adequate technical training is necessary for wise deci-
sion-making. Training diplomats and negotiators in science and innovation also can 
increase their ability to discuss technological issues in international forums. 

Science and innovation diplomacy has become a critical aspect of international re-
lations. Ministries of foreign affairs are increasingly promoting international tech-
nology cooperation and forging strategic alliances. To effectively carry out this man-
date, foreign ministries need to strengthen their internal capability in science and 
innovation. To this end, they are creating offices dealing specifically with science 
and innovation, working in close cooperation with other relevant ministries, indus-
try, academia and civil society. 
Aligning higher education with human needs 

To promote Africa’s development and agricultural sustainability the missions of 
universities and other institutions of higher learning should be aligned with coun-
tries’ needs. Africa’s own experiences illustrate the important role universities can 
play if their goals are aligned with national policies. Take the case of Rwanda. 
Rwanda’s genocide was one of the worst human tragedies of the post-World War II 
period and also destroyed much its physical infrastructure and skill base. To con-
tribute to the reconstruction of the country, Rwanda converted the premises of its 
military academy into a base for a new technical university, the Kigali Institute of 
Science and Technology (KIST). The institution, created in 1997, has played a crit-
ical role in the reconstruction of the country and stands out as a role model for other 
countries emerging from civil wars and economic decay. 



45

28 See, for example, National Research Council 2006. The Fundamental Role of Science and 
Technology in International Development: An Imperative for the US Agency for International De-
velopment. National Academies Press, Washington, DC; House of Commons Science and Tech-
nology Committee 2004. The Use of Science in UK International Development Policy, Vol. 1. Sta-
tionery Office Limited, London. 

29 Over 15% of that cable is owned by United States companies, and 30% in all by non-African 
investors. 

But most of Africa’s universities do not play significant roles in helping to solve 
local problems. Much can be gained by adjusting the curricula, pedagogy and man-
agement of urban universities to address challenges such as sanitation and improve-
ment of the conditions of slum dwellers. Similarly, universities and research institu-
tions located in rural areas could serve as the locus for research, training and out-
reach on the management of natural resources. 

Universities should work more closely with the private sector in the sustainable 
development activities. Promoting enterprise development, especially in the urban 
areas, is one of the most effective ways to stimulate economic growth. Similar efforts 
need to be adopted in rural areas. More specifically, institutions of higher learning 
and other mechanisms could serve as business incubators as well as sources of ideas 
and support for upgrading urban and rural economic activities. 

Emphasis should be placed on bringing research, teaching and community out-
reach together. For example, medical schools should be more integrated into hos-
pitals just as agricultural research stations should have a strong teaching role. 
Similarly, strong links between universities and the business community should be 
forged. This process may involve reforms in existing universities, creation of new 
ones or upgrading existing institutions. Equally critical would be to merge the func-
tions of higher education and science and technology, which in many African coun-
tries fall under separate ministries. 

There is a need to take stock of research and training facilities in Africa, espe-
cially those falling outside universities, and explore how they could be harnessed to 
supplement the contributions of existing universities. All government ministries are 
involved in one or another aspect of research and training and they hold the seed 
for populating the economic space with new species of higher learning institutions 
adapted to specific needs. But their growth is usually suppressed by custodians of 
the laws governing higher education as well as universities that fear competition 
from new entrants. Much of suppression of innovation in higher education is orches-
trated under the guide of maintaining academic standards. Much of it is either re-
sistance to change or political gymnastics to maintain control over moribund sys-
tems. Upgrading is the name of the new game. 

Replacing outmoded curricula with new approaches that encourage creativity, 
enquiry and entrepreneurship should be a priority. These reforms should also in-
clude close cooperation with the private sector and the communities in which uni-
versities are located. In turn, government at all levels (central, regional and urban) 
should be at the forefront of creating space and opportunities for the contribution 
of universities to development. 

Universities should enjoy greater autonomy so that they can adapt in a timely 
manner to a rapidly-changing world. One practical way of achieving all these re-
forms is to provide funding to support agricultural science and innovation coopera-
tion between the US and African countries. US universities already operate on a 
model that Africa could benefit from, and US researchers and engineers can serve 
as a model for professional training. Such fund would be consistent with the grow-
ing interest to place science and innovation at the center of international develop-
ment cooperation.28 

Finally, one specific and time-critical area for policy action by the US is cham-
pioning low-cost Internet services for African universities (and for African con-
sumers in general). License agreements on the overpriced monopoly-run SAT–3 opti-
cal fiber cable that links Africa to the developed world are currently being renegoti-
ated, and the current crippling pricing structure can be changed.29 Investors are 
also currently negotiating to build another cable down the coast of East Africa. 
Without international leadership and action to improve the conditions, the new 
cable may operate in the mode of SAT–3, hobbling entrepreneurs and leaving uni-
versities isolated. Pressure is needed to ensure access for all. 

Even with the highest prices in the world, African Internet usage is exploding. 
If prices were lowered, usage would increase significantly boosting education and 
economy both. No effective strategy for health, education, and development in Africa 
can neglect communications. Many African countries are now recognizing that com-
munications costs and bandwidth limitations are hindering their economic growth. 
The US should work closely with African countries to ensure that access to the com-
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munications infrastructure, especially by educational institutions, is considered an 
essential infrastructure service and that this is reflected in access and pricing struc-
tures. 
Collaborating on new technology missions 

Capturing the wave of emerging technologies is an effective way to galvanize US 
cooperation with African countries. Indeed, the US has a long history of using its 
technological pre-eminence to bolster economic strength among its South East Asian 
allies. Efforts to promote the migration of the semi-conductor industry to South East 
Asian countries such as South Korea and Taiwan are an illustration of this.30 Simi-
larly, the Green Revolution was an act of science and innovation diplomacy.31 
Today, emerging fields of biological innovations (which include the application of liv-
ing processes to economic activities in fields such as agriculture, health, industry 
and environment) represent new opportunities for cooperation between the US and 
Africa.32 

But exploration of technology missions should not be limited to biological innova-
tions. In addition to information and telecommunications technologies, there are ex-
tensive opportunities to collaborate in a wide range of infrastructure related fields 
such as energy and transportation as well as others. Biological innovations are 
therefore used here purely to illustrate emerging opportunities. 

Cooperation in biological innovations can build on the High Level Panel on Mod-
ern Biotechnology of the African Union (AU) and the New Partnership for Africa’s 
Development (NEPAD).33 Its report, Freedom to Innovate: Biotechnology in Africa’s 
Development, proposes a 20-year African Biotechnology Strategy with specific re-
gional technology goals to be implemented through the RECs and to develop and 
harmonize national and regional regulations that promote the application and safe 
use of modern biotechnology. The African Ministerial Council on Science and Tech-
nology (AMCOST) has already endorsed the proposal. 

The panel’s main recommendations include the need for individual countries in 
central, eastern, western, northern and southern Africa to work together at the re-
gional level to scale up the development of biotechnology. It focuses on the key role 
of clusters of expertise, sharing knowledge, creative ideas, and personnel, and work-
ing on problems and projects collaboratively. 

The report also recommends the need to: (a) outline priority areas in bio-
technology that are of relevance to Africa’s development; (b) identify critical capa-
bilities needed for the development and safe use of biotechnology; (c) craft appro-
priate regulatory measures to advance research, commercialization, trade and con-
sumer protection; and (d) offer strategies for creating and building regional and local 
biotechnology initiatives in Africa. 

The report pays particular attention to the role human capabilities and institu-
tional innovation. It calls for reforms in existing knowledge-based institutions, espe-
cially universities, to serve as centers of diffusion of new biotechnologies into the 
economy. It stresses the need to develop and expand national and regional human 
resources development strategies that include: (a) biotechnology curricula that focus 
on specific areas and targets that offer high economic potential for the regions and 
the continent; (b) a consortium of clearly identified and designated universities that 
develop and offer regional biotechnology training courses; (c) a focus on female re-
cruitment in the sciences and engineering. Much of the biotechnology knowledge for 
Africa’s development is currently available in Africa and other parts of the world. 
But Africa lacks appropriate institutions that can search, identify acquire and trans-
form such knowledge in goods and services. This is a primary function of the mod-
ern African university.34 
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CONCLUSION 

Africa may not have benefited from the Green Revolution partly because its insti-
tutional arrangements were not in tune with what was possible in Africa. But 
changes in African governments, the explosive growth in scientific and technical 
knowledge, and the availability of inspirational institutional models now make, it 
possible for the US and Africa to forge new partnerships. 

Indeed, African countries are starting to redesign their economic policies with 
technological considerations in mind. Much of the new thinking has been inspired 
by the rapid diffusion of practical applications in the information and telecommuni-
cations technologies. Mobile phones, for example, have had discernible impacts on 
communication. Many countries are looking for equivalents of the mobile phone for 
other sectors such as energy, agriculture, industry and transportation. Many of 
them are starting to reflect these factors in their foreign policy. 

The US is in a better position than any other country to lead in forging partner-
ships with Africa designed to transfer skills and knowledge. Demand for higher edu-
cation is exploding in Africa, and assistance by the US would be greatly welcomed. 
The US could serve the needs of both diplomacy and food security by providing 
funding for cooperation between the US and Africa in agricultural science and in 
education and training in general, perhaps specifically to enable US land-grant and 
other universities to pair with African counterparts. Working together will allow US 
researchers and their African counterpart to adapt today’s knowledge to African con-
ditions and will effectively transfer skills. It will also expand cooperation with other 
universities around the world with relevant experiences. Other avenues to champion 
these ideas include the next G–8 Summit to help in Japan in 2008. The Cabinet 
of Japan is already challenging its scientific and technological to explore how inno-
vation can play a key role if finding solutions to Africa’s problems.35 This historical 
opportunity is one that the US and Africa cannot afford to miss, for the health of 
millions of people, for economic development, and for building a solid foundation for 
diplomatic relations. 

Mr. PAYNE. Well, let me thank both of you for your testimony. 
We have had hearings in regard to U.S. about China and its role 
not only in Africa but in Latin America. We do know that there are 
aggressive programs that they are ensuing. As it relates to edu-
cation I do think we are lagging behind. 

Some of us are trying to push to once again—you know, during 
Colonial days, there were more programs from USAID and other 
United States programs that brought many African students to the 
United States to study, but as you mentioned, that has dropped off 
a lot, and so we need to take a look at reestablishing that in my 
opinion. Another member, Mr. Delahunt, is very interested in try-
ing to see if we can have some improvement in the number of 
scholarships. 

Once again, of course, it is very difficult today even with the new 
homeland security questions that we have seen. Initially after 911 
there was actually a decrease in foreign students coming which I 
thought was pretty negative. So some of it we do have to certainly 
take a look at. Let me just ask a broad question to both of you. 

Is a Green Revolution for Africa possible or is it, as we would 
say, a pipe dream? What specific steps does the United States Gov-
ernment need to take to help Africans undertake such a revolution 
if possible? Finally, do the programs that we are currently under-
taking support a Green Revolution? We can start with you, Mr. 
McPherson, and, Dr. Juma, if you would want to deal with this no-
tion of the Green Revolution for Africa. 

Mr. MCPHERSON. Well, I think it is very practical, but it will be 
more complex and more multifaceted. There is an organization 
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called FARA that the World Bank has put money into and has 
made a focus, run by a man named Monte Jones who has recently 
received the World Food Prize. In West Africa FARA is pulling to-
gether, or coordinating is too strong, the ideas on how to get this 
done. Monte Jones, FARA, are working with International Ag Re-
search Centers, the World Bank and Gates. 

Gates, Rockefeller should be an important source, resources and 
an important way to prioritize. I mean, there are hundreds of sort 
of sub-research issues here to how to get there because it is going 
to be different climates, different crops. USAID ought to make a 
real commitment to this, and frankly, they just aren’t, they just 
aren’t. 

In fact, there is informal discussion over there as to whether or 
not they should do research, research should be on the agenda at 
all. That has never been their official policy, and people don’t all 
agree to that at USAID. I think you’re focusing on how to drive 
this, Gates, FARA, the Bank and other donors. This is practical, it 
will look differently, but it is worthwhile. Sorry, Dr. Juma. 

By the way, you are unusually lucky to have Dr. Juma here. He 
is a very smart, thoughtful person who is one of the leading think-
ers in this whole area in this country, and we are lucky to have 
him live in the United States. 

Mr. PAYNE. Thank you. Dr. Juma. 
Mr. JUMA. Thank you, Peter, for the compliment. The reason I 

think a fundamental transformation of African agriculture is pos-
sible is because today compared to when we did the Green Revolu-
tion in Mexico, in India initially, we have a much larger pool of sci-
entific and technical knowledge than we did when we transformed 
India and Mexico. That is an opportunity we will have today which 
we didn’t have in the past. 

I think the key question is going to be whether we can build the 
institution, in this case universities, through which we can channel 
this expertise to serve local needs. So the critical limiting factor for 
the expansion and growth of African agriculture is the absence of 
institutions of higher learning that capture the global find of 
knowledge and bring it to bear on local production. So the key 
question is in fact institutional innovation to use the scientific and 
technical knowledge that we have at the moment. 

If we do that in fact this transformation can occur, and it can 
occur very, very quickly. 

Mr. MCPHERSON. I guess a good way to say it, we have got to 
work with African institutions, FARA, to rebuild through strength-
ening African universities and research efforts. We have got U.S. 
institutions that have enormous capacity, the CRSP and much be-
yond. 

Mr. PAYNE. Yes. In your opinion, how long would it take to build 
that capacity? And if there is capacity currently, are we taking ad-
vantage of what is there now? 

Mr. MCPHERSON. Well, we are taking some advantage of it. The 
resources to do so from this side of the world aren’t there. Now, 
Gates is beginning to probably pick up some of that, but not too 
much utilization of that capacity now because there is no focus. Ca-
pacity is sort of a never ending process. You know, when have you 
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really fully built it? Capacity means people, trained, it means facili-
ties. 

People are probably the most important part. You could do a lot 
of building over the next 5 years, but this is a generational issue. 
This is a deal where we are going to have to say, look, the prob-
lems aren’t going to be all solved in the next 5 years, but we need 
to in 10 and 20 years not be where we are now because in many 
ways we are where we were 10 years ago. 

Mr. JUMA. Mr. Chairman, I could use an example here to answer 
your question which is after the genocide in Rwanda there was a 
major discussion on how to rebuild the country. A few people came 
to the conclusion that the only way you could rebuild Rwanda was 
to create an institution of higher learning to train the young people 
in the engineering, and it was argued by many donors that build-
ing a new university will take forever and therefore it was not the 
best way to proceed. 

But the Government of Rwanda insisted on building a new insti-
tution. This was built in 1997. This institution started to deliver 
results in the first 5 years and has had enormous influence in the 
reconstruction of the country. They harnessed existing facilities. It 
is located in what used to be the military academy of the country. 
The case of the Kigali Institute of Science and Technology has de-
stroyed the mythology that funding university takes too long to de-
liver results. 

I can give you numerous other examples of similar kind in Africa 
that show that this can be done fairly quickly, and in fact it is the 
easiest way to do it is to build new institutions. 

Mr. MCPHERSON. I think that the way to think about develop-
ment generally is there are a few key things we know need to hap-
pen. We know we need to have trained people; we know we need 
to have new technology; we know we need the institutions, not to-
tally inappropriate economic policies and some stability. We know 
those things, and we know that to make progress it takes a long 
time as it did in our country, but you have to sort of walk down 
that path. 

In the USAID budget it is very appropriate for a lot of money to 
go in the HIV/AIDS and child survival. What you can’t do is spend 
all the money on those areas. You have to say some things as hu-
manitarians we have to do now, we have to help people, the child 
that will starve, you have to do that, some money has to be in-
vested, not the majority of money actually, has to be invested in 
these other things. Often you shouldn’t put too much money in. 

Our political capacity to sustain commitment for the long-term is 
what we have faltered on. 

Mr. PAYNE. Certainly, with the MCA and countries deciding 
what they want to invest in, we find that they are going into agri-
culture and the big projects, probably eventually USAID’s funding 
is going to be reduced because MCA compacts are going to probably 
eat into that. 

So the whole question of capacity building for the university 
level, which is a concern of ours, we heard and we had educators 
come and say, you have got to have good teachers if you are going 
to—now you have universal education in many countries, you 
know, free from kindergarten to eight at least and even secondary 
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in many of the collages. All of the east African countries, Nairobi, 
Kenya, and so forth said we are going to have it. 

Well, if you don’t have qualified, for example, teachers you have 
now expanded education five fold, and they are not teachers able 
to do the job, so the classes are double and triple the size that they 
were and they were already large. So we do have some very serious 
issues. Let me just ask my last question because I think I have 
used my 5 minutes, but I didn’t stop Ambassador Watson, so I will 
just ask this quick question basically on a point I want to get over. 

What is your opinion of the impact of United States subsidies on 
the development of agriculture in Africa, and what should the 
United States be doing to address this problem created by these 
subsidies? Then we will hear from our ranking member. 

Mr. MCPHERSON. Do you want to answer? 
Mr. JUMA. I think you should answer that. 
Mr. MCPHERSON. Okay. Well, I think that there is clearly some 

impact. In areas like cotton, clear case. I would hope that in a 
Doha round, which as you know is faltering, we could make real 
progress in that connection. We could reduce the subsidies. Let me 
say something that is perhaps a little unconventional. As we work 
to reduce those subsidies in a Doha round, I really wish we could 
include Africa and its intercontinental trade in reducing barriers. 

We are almost all about reducing barriers between Africa, and 
Europe and United States, but the big trade in Africa is going to 
take place regionally. Regional trade agreements are a long, hard 
slide to do it. So I am for a Doha, I am for reduction of subsidies. 
I wish that we could expand it a bit. Nobody is talking about that 
by the way even though that is where the real growth in trade has 
the biggest potential. 

Mr. JUMA. I think on this I would like to add and to raise the 
issue of tariffs on imports from Africa, that this may be just as sig-
nificant as subsidies where the fact that it depresses the capacity 
of African countries to add value to their raw materials and there-
fore their returns on their exports always remains extremely low. 
Secondly, they don’t invest in the technologies needed for industrial 
processing, and as a consequence the industries don’t grow. 

So I think that in fact tariffs may be just as significant as sub-
sidies. 

Mr. MCPHERSON. Tariff on some items that traditionally have 
been potential exports such as leather, clothing, et cetera. Is that 
what you mean? 

Mr. JUMA. Yes, yes. 
Mr. PAYNE. You are right. In our AGOA hearing just recently we 

talked about the expansion of agriculture, and we think that is 
where the real growth can come in Africa, and so we would have 
to deal as you mentioned with tariffs and also of course with the 
subsidies. 

It is cheaper, a farmer told me in Barbados, if he takes a chicken 
and feeds it from the time it is a chick to the time that it was 
grown and ready to go on the market even if it was hatched by a 
chicken he already owned than to buy one that was shipped in 
from Perdue Chicken or some other United States firm, so that is 
a serious problem. 
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If you can feed a little chick in the backyard for less money than 
it costs to buy a chicken processed in the U.S., then there is some-
thing wrong with that formula. Mr. Smith. 

Mr. SMITH OF NEW JERSEY. Thank you very much, Mr. Chair-
man. Let me thank you both for your testimony. They were very 
extensive and provide a number of useful insights for Congress to 
grapple with, and thank you for that. It is good to see you, Mr. 
McPherson. It goes back to the Reagan administration when you 
were the Director of USAID, and I remember working so closely 
with you, so great to see you. 

A couple of questions; with regards to what you mentioned, Dr. 
Juma, about the 2,000 African students and that number doubling. 
I am wondering why USAID seems not to be as committed in that 
regard for finding scholarships and the like. How many African 
students actually come to United States institutions in general for 
higher education, and how many of those actually are here for agri-
cultural training? Is there any census, any sense of that, that they 
are coming into other means to get that very valuable training? 

Secondly, when we talk about the Chinese—and I did chair a 
hearing last year about the growing influence of China, and I think 
it is not so benign a candor. I think they have designs on the assets 
of Africa from its oil, to its vast mineral wealth, to its wood, and 
they are the kind of regime, dictatorship I would say in Beijing, 
that works very closely with people like Bashir and Mugabe and 
in exchange provide weapons that have fueled the war first in the 
southern Sudan and now in Darfur. 

So the purposes aren’t, I don’t think, altruistic on the part of the 
Chinese Government, at least if the dictatorship and the way they 
treat their own people is any indicator, so while Africans and Afri-
can leaders may want to exploit some of that, I think they have to 
be very careful about where China is taking them in terms of this 
effort to try to access the vast mineral wealth of that continent. 

So you might want to speak to that, whether or not there is the 
depreciation among the Africans that education and that engage-
ment by the PRC does not come without a very steep price for the 
African continent and for each country. 

Thirdly, let me ask if I could about the whole issue of genetically 
modified foods. I know that South Africa has allowed its chief crop 
of corn to be grown with genetically modified seed and Burkina 
Faso is similar, with cotton is their chief export. That, too, has 
been permitted under genetically modified foods. I was in Europe 
again, just recently, working mostly on human trafficking, but 
every parliamentarian I seemed to meet in Europe, and I say that 
with some exaggeration, many politicians there, bring up geneti-
cally modified foods and their angst against it. 

I am wondering what your view is of it, Dr. Juma especially, as 
a way of reducing the need for pesticides and trying to harden 
plants, increase output. Is there a downside? Because it is a raging 
issue in Europe as you know so well. Not so much here, but it is 
an issue here. I am not sure what your sense is as to how it relates 
to Africa itself. Finally, on the African action plan the status report 
by the IMF and the Bank showed that there had been progress in 
38 of the 46 countries in raising land productivity since 2002. 
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However, in only six countries did productivity increase reach or 
exceed 5 percent, so it was all less than that. How are the World 
Bank Program and their action plan doing? 

Mr. MCPHERSON. Who wants to go first? 
Mr. JUMA. I will take very quickly the two questions, the China 

and the genetically modified foods. On China, the reason I gave the 
statistics, and I tried, in fact, my colleagues at the Department of 
State tried to cut out an estimate of how many Africans were here 
at the same time and the number I got, which I didn’t get a break-
down of which fields they were in, was about 600. 

Mr. SMITH OF NEW JERSEY. That is through all means, not just 
through the government, you know? 

Mr. JUMA. In all fields. 
Mr. SMITH OF NEW JERSEY. In all fields. 
Mr. JUMA. The reason I gave those figures is to indicate the fact 

that we could do more with Africa, that Africans would prefer in 
fact to come and study here because of commonality in language 
and a lot of other common historical interests. The fact that they 
are going to China is an indication of limited opportunities in the 
United States as opposed to simply an interest in studying in 
China. That is why I gave those figures. 

I also gave them to indicate why it matters for strategic purposes 
because this is going to redefine relations between Africa and the 
rest of the world. When I talk with Presidents, and I have talked 
with some Presidents and I ask them directly questions about the 
various arrangements that they have with China and they say but 
at least China is training our young engineers. Nobody is training 
our young engineers. 

This is an area that matters very significantly to African leaders, 
and that is why I bring it to this committee. On the question of 
genetically modified foods we have just completed a study at the 
request of African Presidents in which we look at the use of bio-
technology not just in agriculture but also in health, in industry 
and in environmental areas. I notice particularly interesting to see 
a large number of African countries themselves engaged in bio-
technology research not driven by outside but their own internal 
programs. 

Secondly, those internal programs show clear forecast on prior-
ities. We see, for example, significant interest in southern Africa on 
using biotechnology to deal with the infectious diseases, and crop 
research in West Africa, livestock research in east Africa, bio-
pharmaceutical research in north Africa, and therefore we have 
concluded on the basis of looking at Africa’s own priorities that this 
is an area where it will be very, very important to build long-term 
partnerships between the United States and Africa. 

So our position, at least this committee that I co-chaired in fact 
included people who have a historical record of being opposed to 
biotechnology, but on this particular committee we had a consensus 
that this is a very important area for Africa, and therefore we have 
already had this report endorsed by African ministers of science 
and technology. 

So what we are starting to see is really divulgence if you like in 
terms of what African leaders and the ministers think the prior-
ities are and what other particularly activist groups think Africa 
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should be doing. It is very clear to us that when Africans are left 
on their own they would like to be on the cutting edge of all imag-
ined technologies. 

So it is our view that no technologies should be excluded from 
the package of options available to Africa because every other coun-
try that has faced a new challenge has used all the technological 
options available at its disposal, and those options should also be 
open to Africa. It will be a mistake for anybody to design a pro-
gram for Africa that precludes an advance in particular tech-
nologies. 

Mr. MCPHERSON. A couple quick comments. The numbers of Afri-
cans in this country studying agriculture or for that matter other 
topics, science and whatever, is not great. The numbers I don’t 
have right here with me, but I know at Michigan State, for exam-
ple, we had a number of graduate students in agriculture, Ag eco-
nomics, but a number meant, you know, a couple dozen. 

The contrast of Africa versus large parts of Asia is that African 
families don’t have money to send their kids abroad. I mean, that 
is why you get an explosion of people from China coming to the 
U.S., because there is money, family money, resources. You just 
don’t have that in Africa any more than 30, 40 years ago career 
Taiwan had family money to send people here. We took thousands 
and thousands of students and educated them and Africa, too. 

Administratively the way we have been talking to the appropri-
ators about training is to ask them to make training a line item. 
In other words, don’t allocate X million for training, but rather di-
rect it be in existing or future projects. We moved from about 7,000 
in 1981 to within a few years 15,000 a year and most of that money 
was within projects. I mean, you see how managerially that works. 
You would say if you got an environment project, a health project, 
some part of it has to be to train people in the United States. 

I think that is one of the ways you can do this without breaking 
the bank if you will on the formal items. I should mention by the 
way that as we work forward with the university effort here there 
is something called Title XII [Famine Prevention and Freedom 
from Hunger Improvement Act of 2000] which has been an excel-
lent instrument, but frankly, needs to be expanded for utilization 
for some of the things we are talking about here. 

Mr. PAYNE. Ms. Woolsey. 
Ms. WOOLSEY. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I need to tell Mr. 

Smith something before he leaves. I represent Marin and Sonoma 
County. You always ask the questions that my district wants the 
answers to. It is really stunning to me. 

Mr. PAYNE. Is that good or bad? 
Ms. WOOLSEY. I think it is great. 
Mr. PAYNE. Okay. All right. 
Ms. WOOLSEY. But it always just so surprises me. Congressman 

Smith, and others and you have all talked about China, but you 
know I don’t think it is only China. I was sitting here before think-
ing about the United States. Maybe we are not buying enough now, 
but as the U.S. keeps building houses on our farmlands, and grow-
ing corn for ethanol instead of food and the percentage of our Ag 
land is decreasing in huge numbers while our population continues 
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to grow I think we are going to be depending more and more abso-
lutely long-term on international agricultural markets for our food. 

I think it will be good for Africa as long as it works for the locals. 
I worry, and my question would be to you is it good for us to import 
African products of course, but where do multinational corporations 
come in and take, you know, the majority of the benefit? Also, if 
the price of food goes up because the United States will pay a lot 
more for our food than Africans can afford, right, so that drives up 
the cost of food, so who benefits in the long run? 

How are we going to face that challenge and control it because 
I think it is really important. 

Mr. MCPHERSON. I am not sure just what you mean. How does 
the U.S. produce more food or how do we import food from other 
countries? 

Ms. WOOLSEY. No. How do we not take advantage of the African 
people in the long-term? I mean, when we decide we can’t grow our 
own food, we are going to buy it someplace else. 

Mr. MCPHERSON. I think that the immediate issue, immediate 
meaning over the next several years, is: Can African countries 
produce more food which they can find markets for here, Europe 
or wherever? 

I mean, there are some issues like the Ethiopia coffee labeling 
question that you mentioned a moment ago, but flowers from 
Kenya or other commodity products, specialty products or frankly 
not necessarily such specialty products, what we would like to see 
is more imports from Africa just as we saw lots of imports from 
Latin America over the last generation. We need to have markets 
for those goods plus other kinds of manufacturing goods. I think 
that is the most immediate issue. 

Ms. WOOLSEY. Well, I was thinking longer term because you 
were both talking about take the big view, look at long-term, where 
do we go? I mean, I am talking—specialty products absolutely. I 
am talking about when we need to buy corn from somebody else 
how do we ensure that the people we buy it from benefit? 

Mr. MCPHERSON. Well, I frankly believe that generally global 
markets work fairly well, that global markets tend to provide con-
sumers lower prices, open markets provide consumers lower prices 
and provide producers that develop options for export greater in-
come. I mean, that is a broader, philosophical issue, but I think 
that open markets have by and large benefitted producers as well 
as consumers. 

The subsidies and the trade barriers have worked in a way that 
poor people haven’t been able to produce as much and get as much 
advantage out of what they could do as well as consumers buy as 
cheaply as they could. It is a fairly long discussion, isn’t it, how 
that works or not. 

Ms. WOOLSEY. Right. It certainly is. 
Mr. MCPHERSON. I don’t suggest it works perfectly, but I do 

think that by and large poor people have been significantly harmed 
by the inability to sell what they produce. Sometimes that is roads 
that weren’t available to get it out of their poor community, some-
times it is lack of quality control, safety or other reasons, that 
wouldn’t allow exports to wherever, and sometimes it is trade bar-
riers. 
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You work at those issues in my belief, but I realize that some, 
perhaps you, might think that is not adequate. 

Ms. WOOLSEY. Well, I just see it is going to be a challenge. 
Mr. MCPHERSON. It will be a challenge, and there will be disrup-

tions in markets, won’t there? 
Ms. WOOLSEY. Yes. 
Mr. MCPHERSON. Disruptions in peoples’ lives. 
Mr. JUMA. I could just add by saying that I think that some of 

Africa’s challenges have to do with the total integration of the glob-
al economy as opposed to being too much of it, that it is exporting 
too little and what it exports is not diversified enough. If Africa’s 
manufactured exports were to increase, for example, that would 
also help to address some of its nutritional questions, food security 
questions. 

I have been to Manhattan, for example, in New York and I have 
not seen any corn growing there, but I have not seen people starv-
ing there either as I could think of large parts of Africa that could 
feed itself because it is exporting manufactured goods. 

Mr. MCPHERSON. I know we are about ready to stop here, but 
Mr. Hess referred to the information exchanged by way of com-
puter. There is some great work going on in Africa in that regard. 
Michigan State funded a few hundred thousand dollars for a period 
of years a project where we had 18 sites around Mali sun powered 
computers where twice a week local people in those 18 cities went 
out in the market, got the prices of various kinds of rice, cracked 
or not cracked, so forth, and then communicated it on a computer 
screen to all other sites in the country so you could see the dif-
ference in crop prices. 

Now, that is a big deal actually. I said to the people doing it, 
okay, when are we going to develop a futures market out in this 
thing? He said well, people are already buying from another city 
outside for delivery of a certain price, in effect a delivery at a fu-
ture date. That kind of stuff is really changing. It goes to informa-
tion, transportation. Everybody benefits. Mr. Chairman. 

Mr. PAYNE. Well, let me thank both of you. Let me just make a 
closing comment. Incidentally, former Secretary General Kofi 
Annan recently, now chairman of the Alliance for a Green Revolu-
tion, was quoted as saying that the alliance would not incorporate 
genetically modified organisms in its program, and so I hear you, 
Dr. Juma, saying the options should be left open, but it appears 
that there has been a decision made at least on one of the leading 
personalities as it relates to that issue. 

The question of China as I indicated it is always discussed. I do 
have concerns, you know, that the Chinese will also build a soccer 
field and give the key over to a country and that is very visible, 
but things we attempt to get involved in such as HIV and AIDS 
or programs like we do, when we are trying to as you know double 
the PEPFAR program—as you know, President Bush mentioned 
that he wants to move $30 billion over 5 years from 2009 forward 
which is astounding go unnoticed. 

I do agree and we have discussed the need for more scholarship 
assistance and so forth. Two interesting points: Recent polls con-
ducted around the world, in every sector of the world, indicate that 
Africa, actually, Africans in general, have the highest opinion of 
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America out of any other part of the world. It is up in the high 80 
percent where, for example, in Egypt the United States has a 92 
percent disapproval rating. 

It goes a little bit down from that in other parts of the world, 
but Africa in general tends to still have a very high image of the 
United States of America. Secondly, the study done recently on im-
migrants to the United States, that Africans immigrating into the 
United States of all groupings had the highest education and 
achievement levels of any grouping. Of course Africa is general, but 
it was grouped as Africa. 

So there are still I think many individuals who have a positive 
image, and I think we need to work on that in the future to try 
to get more assistance to education and to the institutions of higher 
learning like I have been pushing myself. We were going to ad-
journ, but we do have our member, Congresswoman Sheila Jackson 
Lee, and we will give her an opportunity to ask a quick question 
if you gentlemen still have a moment. 

Mr. MCPHERSON. Sure we do. 
Mr. PAYNE. All right. Thank you. 
Ms. JACKSON LEE. Mr. Chairman, thank you for that quick ques-

tion. Let me say to the witnesses I am in another committee on a 
mark-up. I thank the chairman for this vital hearing. I would like 
to work with this committee specifically on the question of water, 
water security, irrigation, and frankly believe that I know that this 
has covered the whole question of building capacity as it relates to 
food security, and I again am reminded of the history of Ethiopia 
and the cycles of drought which face a lot of countries on the con-
tinent. 

So my quick question to both witnesses if they might comment 
on the vitalness of a continued water stream if you will and the 
work that the United States and aid entities can do on the techno-
logical side, the educational side, but the creation of water security 
and permanence in some of the continent’s most impacted areas to 
ensure a continuous stream of water. Doctor, you want to—did you 
not hear me? Water security. 

Mr. JUMA. Border security. 
Ms. JACKSON LEE. Water, water. 
Mr. JUMA. Water security. Okay. 
Ms. JACKSON LEE. Yes. If you just want to briefly indicate the 

importance of such, and I won’t ask any other questions. Mr. 
McPherson, I am trying to go back for a vote, so I am just inter-
ested in your quick answer on the importance of water security. 

Mr. JUMA. Actually, what is very interesting is if you look at var-
ious critical sectors like energy for the production, transportation 
you will always find the studies on technological innovation in 
those areas, but you don’t find it in the area of water, so we 
haven’t been investing very much in figuring out how to enhance 
the efficiency of the use of water, deal with the quality questions. 
That is also linked to the management of the ecosystems from 
which the catchment areas from where the water comes from. 

I think that a large part of the challenge for water management 
in Africa is really the technological interventions as opposed to sim-
ply looking at the quantity of water, water development. 
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Ms. JACKSON LEE. Thank you. Very key point to my thought 
process. Thank you very much. Mr. McPherson? 

Mr. MCPHERSON. I guess water would be a question of for human 
consumption or as we have talked about today for agriculture. 

Ms. JACKSON LEE. I would put it in both points, and if you wish 
to emphasize the agricultural then please feel free to do so. 

Mr. MCPHERSON. There is relatively little irrigation in Africa 
mostly because even though our mind often focuses on the Congo, 
or Nile, or something, in fact, Africa doesn’t have very many feeder 
rivers. It is part of why it hasn’t developed as well because there 
aren’t places for vessels and so forth. I think water is clearly im-
portant, and I believe that irrigation technology is part of the pic-
ture as well as figuring out how to get fertilizer out there, and that 
is a transportation issue. 

I think that as to water, as to agriculture it is important to look 
at as part of a whole set of problems. Water is a limiter on produc-
tion in several parts of Africa. 

Ms. JACKSON LEE. Mr. Chairman, let me thank both of the wit-
nesses. I know that their testimony was both eloquent and instruc-
tive, and your oversight that we have had in these first 7 months 
has I think moved this committee forward to the extent that we 
can be effective partners in growing opportunities on the continent 
both in terms of health, economics, political process, human rights 
and certainly food. 

I would hope that water could be a strong component of that, and 
I look forward to working with the chairman on legislation that I 
am drafting that focuses specifically, Mr. Chairman, on this whole 
question of water, and irrigation and the technology points that the 
doctor has made, so important. I yield back to the chairman. Thank 
you for your leadership. 

Mr. PAYNE. Thank you very much. Let me thank the panelists. 
This has been very informative and insightful. We will certainly be 
following up, and I appreciate your time this afternoon. Thank you. 
The hearing stands adjourned. 

[Whereupon, at 1:08 p.m., the subcommittee was adjourned.] 
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A P P E N D I X 

MATERIAL SUBMITTED FOR THE HEARING RECORD

WRITTEN RESPONSES FROM THE HONORABLE MICHAEL E. HESS, ASSISTANT ADMINIS-
TRATOR, BUREAU FOR DEMOCRACY, CONFLICT AND HUMANITARIAN ASSISTANCE, 
UNITED STATES AGENCY FOR INTERNATIONAL DEVELOPMENT, TO QUESTIONS SUB-
MITTED FOR THE RECORD BY THE HONORABLE DONALD M. PAYNE, A REPRESENTA-
TIVE IN CONGRESS FROM THE STATE OF NEW JERSEY, AND CHAIRMAN, SUB-
COMMITTEE ON AFRICA AND GLOBAL HEALTH 

Question: 
What types of programs does USAID support that are specifically focused on train-

ing Africans in the areas of agricultural development, agronomy, and other highly 
technical fields that would increase the capacity at the country level to carry out de-
velopment activities? 
Response: 

There is a short term training program for African women scientists—the Borlaug 
Women in Science program—to develop women leaders in agricultural science and 
a long term training program, Borlaug Leadership Enhancement in Agriculture Pro-
gram (LEAP), a fellowship program to enhance the quality of thesis research of 
graduate students, that supports research at CGIAR (Consultative Group for Inter-
national Agricultural Research) Centers. USAID is also piloting three long term 
training programs in Zambia, Ghana, and Mali to develop and test new approaches 
to long-term training. In addition to these programs, there are a number of activi-
ties that have long and short term training as a component of their programs—the 
Collaborative Research Support Programs (CRSPs); the Higher Education for Devel-
opment (HED) Program; and the Agricultural Biotechnology Support Program. 
These three global programs have significant Africa components. 
Question: 

How many agronomists and experts in the area of agricultural development are 
currently employed at the U.S. Agency for International Development here in Wash-
ington, DC? How many direct hire agricultural development experts—and by that I 
mean people trained specifically in the field—are currently serving in our posts in 
Africa? 
Response: 

USAID has a total of 32 direct hire Foreign Service and General Service technical 
experts worldwide and in Washington filling positions specifically related to agri-
culture. Fourteen of these positions are in Washington and 18 are in the field, of 
which seven are in Africa. In addition, there are 150 General Development Officers 
and Private Enterprise Officers in the field, of which 46 are in Africa. A number 
of technical experts in these positions are designing and managing programs with 
an agriculture component. 

PREPARED STATEMENT OF THE HONORABLE SHEILA JACKSON LEE, A REPRESENTATIVE 
IN CONGRESS FROM THE STATE OF TEXAS 

Mr. Chairman, I thank you for holding this very important hearing on the role 
of agricultural development in promoting food security in Africa. Food security in 
African countries has long been a major crisis and a leading cause of poverty, fam-
ine and death amongst the African population. The United States and many others 
in the international community have made significant efforts to combat this crisis. 
Unfortunately, such poverty, famine and death still persist. The United States must 



60

continue to live up to its stature as that humanitarian beacon upon the hill that 
provides a ray of hope to its international neighbors who are in desperate straits 
and dying daily because of lack of basic life-sustaining resources. That is why we 
need to reassess the effectiveness of our efforts on this front and create new avenues 
for improving the food security in Africa. 

Today, we have the opportunity to hear from witnesses who will provide this Com-
mittee with information that can give us a better understanding of the current food 
security and agricultural development challenges facing African countries. I would 
like to take this opportunity to thank and welcome our witnesses: The Honorable 
Jacqueline E. Schafer, Mr. Peter McPherson, Dr. Calestrous Juma, and Mr. Michael 
Hess. 

Mr. Chairman, the purpose of this hearing is to assess the role of agricultural de-
velopment in promoting food security in Africa and to seek solutions that provide 
increased sustainable agricultural development systems. Sustainable agricultural 
development will not only lead to stimulation in the economy but will also save 
many lives. 

As is well-chronicled, the malnutrition and food security crisis in Africa remains 
a daunting challenge. Sub-Saharan Africa (‘‘Africa’’ hereafter) has the largest pro-
portion of undernourished persons of any world region. In 2004, the last year for 
which global World Bank data for this measure are available, about 30% or 218 mil-
lion Africans were undernourished, representing about 25% of the total world popu-
lation of such persons. With some fluctuations, usually upwards as high as 36% in 
response to droughts or other natural disasters, roughly 30% of Africans have re-
mained undernourished since 1971, the earliest year for which the World Bank 
maintains such information, though in recent years several countries, mostly in 
West Africa, have attained reductions in undernourishment. The numerical bulk of 
undernourished Africans are in East Africa, but rates of undernourishment are high 
in East, Southern, and Central Africa; in the period 2001–2003 they ranged between 
39% in the former two regions and 56% in the latter. West Africa had a much lower 
average of 15% in that period, although a few countries in the region had exception-
ally high rates; these included Liberia (49%), Sierra Leone (50%), and Niger (32%). 

Mr. Chairman, it is apparent that agricultural development assistance in Africa 
is crucial for eliminating the widespread malnourishment, undernourishment among 
African countries. Undernourishment is largely due to lack of food security in prov-
inces within countries, communities, or households. Causes of food insecurity in-
clude: physical unavailability of food in markets or fields; poorly functioning food 
market and other food delivery mechanisms; lack of income to purchase or grow ade-
quate amounts of food; lack of access due to social status (often at the household 
level, e.g., children, junior wives in some polygamous societies, or the elderly); lack 
of nutritional diversity; barriers to nutritional intake (e.g., poor health and lack of 
sanitation or clean drinking water); agricultural seasonality (e.g., pre-harvest food 
deficits or variable rains); and natural and man-made disasters (e.g., floods, 
drought, or armed conflict). All of these factors are present to varying degrees in 
multiple African countries. 

Inadequate levels or types of agricultural food production at the local level play 
an important role in creating food insecurity in Africa, especially in remote rural 
areas. Many researchers, however, attribute food insecurity less to an absolute def-
icit of food, particularly at the international or national level, than to the failure 
of socioeconomic systems, including markets and political processes, to distribute 
food equitably or efficiently. In the view of many, better functioning and open mar-
ket systems are equally or more important in increasing food security than are abso-
lute food production increases. In the absence of better functioning markets and re-
sponsive political institutions, however, an absolute increase in production may be 
most likely to decrease food insecurity. Such increases are also likely to boost the 
incomes of Africa’s rural poor majority, which can lead both to nutritional and act 
as a multiplier for a range of quality of life improvements for this group, whose 
members face the highest rates of undernourishment and are often directly or indi-
rectly dependent on agriculture for their livelihoods. By world standards, Africa’s 
food production growth rates are substantially below some other regions, but just 
below the world average and somewhat above South Asia, the region which it is 
most often compared, and which in many cases has socio-economic indices below 
those of Africa While relative rates of growth in African agricultural productivity 
are just below the world average, the absolute rate of growth is small, because Afri-
can agricultural output productivity measures are lower than those in other parts 
of the world, in some cases substantially. In large part this is because African agri-
cultural production is accomplished predominantly by manual labor, is mostly rain-
fed, and employs improved germplasm (seed or other genetic materials, e.g., 
cuttings) technologies and inputs (e.g., hybrid seeds, fertilizer, and herbicides and 
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pesticides) at a relatively low rate. Africa has the lowest ratio of tractors per unit 
of land and agriculture sector value added per worker, and the smallest cereal 
yields, rates of Fertilizer consumption, and percentage of irrigated cropland. 

Mr. Chairman, though there have been substantial efforts to improve the food se-
curity crisis in Africa from various sources such as governments, non-governmental 
organizations, and philanthropists across the world, it is evident that the humani-
tarian efforts amongst many of these entities have not been as effective, and per-
haps as efficient as anticipated at the outset of this monumental endeavor. This in-
effectiveness and inefficiency has been attributed to a number of factors two of 
which are poor communication and transport infrastructure of Africa which pro-
hibits market access and the decline in funding sources for agricultural develop-
ment. 

In a recent report, the Partnership to Cut Hunger and Poverty in Africa, exam-
ined U.S. agricultural development assistance to Africa and concluded that: (1) com-
peting priorities and congressional earmarks influence funding for agricultural de-
velopment assistance; and (2) that institutional factors such as affect the scale and 
potential effectiveness of development resources. 

I look forward to hearing the testimony of our witnesses so that we can continue 
our efforts to end the food security crisis in Africa. 

Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I yield back the balance of my time.

Æ


